

gruppen:



Handelshøyskolen BI

GRA 19703 Master Thesis

Thesis Master of Science 100% - W

Startdata:	00-01-2023 00:00 CET	Termin:	202310		
Sluttdato:	03-07-2023 09:00 CET	Vurderingsform:	Norch 6-tripps shale (A-E)		
beamensform:	T	vurueringsjorm:	NOISK O-LIUIIIS SKULU (A-F)		
Flowkode:	202310 1184 IN00 W I				
Intern sensor:					
eltaker					
Navn:	Elias Holmeide Pando og	Ole Kristian Nørholm Lae			
nformasjon fra de	ltaker				
nformasjon fra de Tittel *:	ltaker The Contribution of Enterpris	se Risk Management to Firm V	alue - Empirical evidence from the North American and European Oil & Gas Sector		
nformasjon fra de Tittel *: Navn på veileder *:	ltaker The Contribution of Enterpris Flemming Ruud	se Risk Management to Firm V	alue - Empirical evidence from the North American and European Oil & Gas Sector		
nformasjon fra de Tittel *: Navn på veileder *: Inneholder besvarelser	ltaker The Contribution of Enterpris Flemming Ruud	se Risk Management to Firm V Kan besvarelsen Ja	alue - Empirical evidence from the North American and European Oil & Gas Sector		
nformasjon fra de Tittel *: Navn på veileder *: Inneholder besvarelsen konfidensielt materiale?:	ltaker The Contribution of Enterpris Flemming Ruud	se Risk Management to Firm V Kan besvarelsen Ja offentliggjøres?:	alue - Empirical evidence from the North American and European Oil & Gas Secto		
nformasjon fra de Tittel *: Navn på veileder *: Inneholder besvarelser konfidensielt materiale?:	ltaker The Contribution of Enterpris Flemming Ruud	se Risk Management to Firm V Kan besvarelsen Ja offentliggjøres?:	alue - Empirical evidence from the North American and European Oil & Gas Secto		
nformasjon fra de Tittel *: Navn på veileder *: Inneholder besvarelser konfidensielt materiale?:	ltaker The Contribution of Enterpris Flemming Ruud	se Risk Management to Firm V Kan besvarelsen Ja offentliggjøres?:	alue - Empirical evidence from the North American and European Oil & Gas Secto 1		
nformasjon fra de Tittel *: Navn på veileder *: Inneholder besvarelser konfidensielt materiale?: jruppe Gruppenavn:	ltaker The Contribution of Enterpris Flemming Ruud Nei	se Risk Management to Firm V Kan besvarelsen Ja offentliggjøres?:	alue - Empirical evidence from the North American and European Oil & Gas Secto 1		
nformasjon fra de Tittel *: Navn på veileder *: Inneholder besvarelser konfidensielt materiale?: Gruppe Gruppenavn: Gruppenavn:	ltaker The Contribution of Enterpris Flemming Ruud Nei (Anonymisert) 174	se Risk Management to Firm V Kan besvarelsen Ja offentliggjøres?:	alue - Empirical evidence from the North American and European Oil & Gas Secto		

The Contribution of Enterprise Risk Management to Firm Value – Empirical Evidence from the North American and European Oil & Gas Sector

Ole Kristian Nørholm Lae & Elias Holmeide Pando Supervisor: Flemming T. Ruud

Master thesis, Business Major: Accounting and Business Control

BI NORWEGIAN BUSINESS SCHOOL

This thesis was written as a part of the Master of Science in Business at BI Norwegian Business School. Please note that neither the institution nor the examiners are responsible – through the approval of this thesis – for the theories and methods used or results and conclusions drawn in this work.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Professor Flemming T. Ruud at the Department of Accounting and Operation Management at the BI Norwegian Business School. Throughout his supervision and his course at BI, Strategic Risk Management, we have gained a deeper understanding of Enterprise Risk Management.

We would also like to thank Assistant Professor Luciana Orozco at the Department of Accounting and Operations Management at BI, for vital guidance throughout this thesis.

Finally, we would like to thank Petter Kapstad at Equinor for his time, providing us with a broader view of real-world implications and applications of enterprise risk management.

BI Norwegian Business School

Drammen/Ski, June 2023

Ole Kristian Nørholm Lae Elias Holmeide Pando

Abstract

This master thesis examines the contribution of Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) to firm value within the upstream oil and gas sector in Europe and North America. Given the industry's high exposure to various risks, this study aims to evaluate whether the implementation of an ERM system can add value to firms operating in this sector. Notably, the upstream oil and gas sector, particularly in our chosen regions, has been strikingly understudied in existing literature, especially in relation to ERM's influence on firm-performance-related dependent variables. Using a dataset spanning several years and encompassing diverse financial and non-financial indicators, a panel data analysis with fixed effects was employed to establish the relationship between ERM adoption and firm value. The findings reveal a statistically and economically significant positive impact of ERM, equivalent to the predominate view of current research.

Table of Contents

1. Introduction
1.1 Motivation
1.2 Research Question
1.3 Structure
1.4 Contribution
1.5 Abbreviations
2. Risk Management
2.1 Overview
2.2 Traditional risk management
2.3 Enterprise risk management
3. The Evolution of ERM12
4. Corporate Governance14
4.1 Corporate governance and ERM14
4.2 The strategic aspect15
4.3 The board of directors and risk management 16
5. ERM in Practice – Equinor18
6. Development of Key Variables20
6.1 Measurement inconsistencies

	iv
6.1.1 CRO as proxy for ERM	21
6.1.2 Modelling ERM index based on firm-specific information?	22
6.1.3 Survey responses to determine ERM	23
6.2 Firm value - Tobin's Q	24
6.3 Firm characteristics of ERM adoption and determinants of firm	1
value - key variables	26
7. Research Design	33
7.1 Data collection	33
7.2 Variables and measurement	35
7.2.1 Control variables	35
8. Model Specification	38
8.1 Unbalanced panel data	38
8.2 Model selection	39
8.2.1 SUR Framework	39
8.2.3 Pooled OLS	39
8.2.4 Fixed effects model	40
8.2.5 Random Effects model	41
8.3 Model specification test	41
8.4 Model Building	42
8.4.1 Firm fixed effects vs country fixed effects	42
8.4.2 Model specification for firm fixed effects	43
8.4.3 Model specification with country fixed effects	44

	v
8.5 Validity4	14
8.5.1 Addressing selection bias4	14
8.5.2 Addressing omitted variable bias4	15
8.5.3 Addressing multicollinearity4	16
8.5.4 Examining error terms in panel data: stationarity and serial	l
correlation, and heteroskedasticity4	1 7
8.5.5 Addressing measurement errors4	18
9. Data Analysis5	50
9.1 Descriptive statistics5	50
9.1.1 Description of data5	50
9.1.2 Explanation of variable transformation 5	51
9.1.3 Observations and key findings from Table 15	52
9.1.4 Table 2: Comparing firms with and without ERM5	53
9.2 Correlation matrix5	55
9.2.1 Discussion of correlations with ERM – our independent	
variable of interest	55
9.2.2 Multicollinearity check5	56
9.3.3 Other interesting correlations 5	57
10. Results and Discussion5	58
10.1 Model 1: firm-specific fixed effects5	59
10.2 Model 2: country-specific fixed effects 6	50
10.3 Model selection6	50

	vi
10.4 Discussion of results	61
10.5 Conclusion	66
References	70
Appendix	80
Appendix A: Guiding questions for the conversation w	ith P. Kapstad
01.06.2023	80
Appendix B: List of Companies	81
Appendix C: Examples of ERM	82
1: Capricorn Energy	82
2: Tullow Oil	82
3: Eni	82
4: Noble Corp Plc	83

1. Introduction

1.1 Motivation

Navigating today's increasingly complex and volatile business environment necessitates effective risk management. The necessity is amplified in high-risk sectors such as the oil and gas sector, where risk management has evolved from a mere operational function to a strategic imperative.

Consider the case of Equinor, a multinational energy company based in Norway, as an illustrative example. The company disclosed that its U.S. operations accrued losses amounting to roughly 21.5 billion USD from 2007 to 2019 (Equinor, 2020). Operational hitches, cost overruns, and sub-optimal investment choices were cited as major contributors to this financial setback. This case underscores the vital role that risk management plays in preserving the financial health of oil and gas firms. Events such as the 2008 global financial crisis and the ongoing war in Ukraine further emphasizes the urgency for robust risk management strategies.

These concerns are only a fragment of a more significant landscape of threats that could impact firms negatively. The Institute of Internal Auditors (2021) warned that socio-political unrest, regulatory shifts, persistent economic and political volatility, and climate change effects would render the future unpredictable. This complex panorama prompts a crucial question: why should risk management be a priority for managers and directors? The response lies within the inherent complexity of large corporations. Diverse risks across multiple departments can interact unpredictably, potentially triggering a ripple effect that could compromise the company's overall stability and profitability.

However, risk is not exclusively negative: it presents an opportunity for return (P. Kapstad, personal communication, June 1, 2023). Therefore, risk should be viewed as a potential source of benefit, provided it is managed effectively. As an example, consider the losses incurred by Equinor's U.S. operations. Neither the market nor the government could mitigate their risk exposure. Instead, to maximize their operational benefits, Equinor should have adopted an enterprise-wide risk management approach – leading us to the concept of Enterprise Risk Management (ERM).

1

Since the late 1990s and early 2000s, risk management has witnessed a significant transformation. Initially subtle, this shift gained momentum in the aftermath of the financial crisis, leading to a paradigm change. The executive management of risk, or risk governance, transitioned from a silo approach to a holistic one. This new paradigm emphasized all potential financial, economic, and strategic risks and opportunities.

A milestone in this transition was the 2004 release of the Enterprise Risk Management Integrated Framework by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). This framework outlined ERM as a strategic process that involves the board of directors, management, and other personnel, with a focus on identifying and managing potential organizational impact events (SoxOnline, 2004). The framework also emphasized that ERM should create value.

Simultaneously, the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) implemented new corporate governance rules requiring listed firms' audit committees to take a more proactive role in risk oversight. These developments highlight the growing importance of ERM as a crucial aspect of corporate governance and strategic decision-making.

Given its substantial capital investments, fluctuating market prices, environmental challenges, and regulatory complexities, the oil and gas industry stands as a sector that can greatly benefit from an enterprise-wise approach to risk management (Annamalah et al., 2018). The ultimate goal is to enhance firm value, thereby increasing investor trust and fiscal stability. However, the current body of research investigating ERM's contribution to firm value, particularly within the oil and gas sector, is surprisingly limited. A possible explanation could be the lack of legal mandate for implementing ERM, unlike the banking and insurance sectors. This lack of formal regulation might de-emphasize ERM's importance and result in less attention from internal and external stakeholders. Furthermore, the abstract nature of ERM and its non-immediate financial return might deter ERM's attention from analysts and investors.

Given the scarcity of existing research and the unique complexities of the oil and gas sector, the examination of ERM's contribution to firm value is both timely and relevant. Therefore, this study aims to fill the gap in existing literature. By doing so, it is hoped that a more profound understanding of the potential benefits of ERM adoption will be generated, shedding light on the critical role it plays in enhancing firm value. This will likely heighten the awareness of ERM's significance among stakeholders and pave the way for more comprehensive, strategic risk management practices in the oil and gas sector.

1.2 Research Question

As we navigate through this domain of risk management, particularly within the volatile and complex oil and gas sector, the focus of this study is directed towards understanding the contribution of Enterprise Risk Management to firm value. This represents the core of our research - the exploration of the link between the implementation of ERM and subsequent changes in firm value. We are particularly interested in the transitional phase - when companies shift from a state without ERM to one where ERM is implemented.

Our interest is driven by the proposition that such a transition could influence companies' firm value, given the potential for ERM to be a competitive advantage (M. S. Beasley et al., 2005), by managing and mitigating risks inherent in the company and the industry. This brings us to our research question:

"Does Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) influence firm value, when companies in the upstream oil and gas sector go from not having ERM to implementing ERM?"

1.3 Structure

Our study is arranged in the following manner: First, we delve into an extensive literature review to construct the theoretical framework, upon which our hypotheses are based. Here, we comprehensively distinguish ERM from TRM (traditional risk management), elaborate on the relation between ERM and corporate governance, provide an example of how a large E&P (exploration and production of oil and gas) company executes ERM, and explain how and why the concept of ERM emerged. Finally, we analyze prior literature in terms of the

relation between ERM and firm-performance-related dependent variables to determine the optimal combination of variables to include in our econometric model.

The second segment of our work is assessing the methodology. Here, we elaborate our sample selection, justify the measurement of our variables, and explain our model specification. This section is particularly crucial for understanding the mechanics of our study and the rationale behind our methodological choices.

Following our methodological outline, we present a detailed descriptive analysis of our sample. Subsequently, we dive into the core empirical component of our study, presenting and interpreting the outcomes derived from our model. This segment forms the core of our work, examining the potential influence on ERM on firm value in the upstream oil and gas sector. Lastly, we finalize our study with a conclusion, summarizing our main findings and their implications.

1.4 Contribution

This study primarily contributes to the topic of risk management by examining the relationship between ERM and firm value in the upstream oil and gas sector in North America and Europe. Using this sector, as well as data from 2010 to 2020 we distinguish ourselves from prior research on the same topic. In contrast to most prior research, who proxied ERM by the S&P rating and by using CRO as proxy for ERM implementation, we employ the proxy for ERM by analyzing each company's annual report.

1.5 Abbreviations

Given the technical nature of this study, it is inevitable that various abbreviations will be used throughout the text for brevity and clarity. For the ease of reading and understanding, we have included an abbreviation list at the beginning of the paper, to provide a comprehensive guide to all acronyms and abbreviations used in this study.

- · CRO Chief Risk Officer
- · CEO Chief Executive Officer
- · CFO Chief Financial Officer
- · E&P Exploration & Production
- · ERM Enterprise Risk Management
- · TRM Traditional Risk Management
- · COSO Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
- · ISO The International Organization for Standardization
- S&P Standard & Poor's Index
- · SOX Sarbanes-Oxley Act
- · NPV Net Present Value
- · KPMG Klyneveld Peat Marwick Goerdeler
- · EY Ernst & Young
- · Deloitte Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited
- · PWC PricewaterhouseCoopers
- · VIF Variance Inflation Factor
- · COMPUSTAT Market and corporate financial database
- · NASDAQ National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotations
- · OLS Ordinary Least Squares Regression
- · CapEx Capital Expenditures
- · FERMA Federation of European Risk Management Associations
- · OECD The Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development
- · SEC United States Securities and Exchange Commission
- KPI Key Performance Indicator
- OBS Observations
- · PCAOB Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
- · U.S. United States
- · U.K United Kingdom
- · ROA Return on Assets

2. Risk Management

2.1 Overview

Risk management refers to financial and operational activities that seek to identify, assess and implement appropriate actions to deal with risks an organization faces (Dionne, 2013). Various forms of risk management exist as organizations adopt different systems depending on several factors such as industry, firm size, competitive environment, organizational structure, and culture, etc. Despite this, the fundamental objective of risk management remains the same: to manage uncertainties and support decision-making. To increase the understanding of the role of risk management in organizations, it is helpful to use the analogy of a ship's captain. More specifically, general business management, guided and controlled by the board through their corporate governance practices, can be perceived as the captain navigating the ship toward its destination. In this context, the company's goals and overall strategy refers to the ship's destination and the board refers to the ship's captain. Conversely, risk management encompasses the captain's guiding and steering the ship clear of reefs, icebergs and disadvantageous weather conditions which may harm the ship and its capacity to reach its destination. As such, while the board directs the management towards the attainment of organizational objectives and augmentation of efficiency, risk management, and in particular enterprise risk management, contributes to this process as a corrective directive.

But what exactly is risk? This is an important question to answer since the perception of risk defines both the objective of the risk management program and its design. While FERMA, the Federation of European Risk Management Associations, emphasizes that there are many definitions of risk, it rests on the definition set by ISO 31000, a recognized standard in the field of risk management. In more detail, the standard defines risk as "the effect of uncertainty on objectives" and that this effect can be positive, negative or simply a deviation from what is expected (Hopkin, 2010). This, and in particular the aspect of upside risk, aligns with the risk perception of COSO, the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations (COSO, 2017), which, as we elaborate on in section 3, was a pivotal institution in the emergence and development of ERM. Furthermore, the Institute of Internal Audit, an international professional association in the field of

internal audit, defines risk in the following manner: "the possibility of an event occurring that will have an impact on the achievement of objectives. Risk is measured in terms of impact and likelihood." (The Institute of Internal Auditors, 2023).

Depending on the objectives of risk management and the organization's overall goals, the management thus needs to design a favorable risk management system, considering the nature of its business and how it sees risk. Despite the existence of various forms of risk management, organizations can essentially construct a risk management system in two fundamentally different ways: the traditional way of managing risks (TRM) or the more modern and holistically oriented approach (ERM). Section 2.2 and 2.3 distinguish these contrasting approaches, emphasizing that the inherent difference emerges from the perception of risk. In broad terms, this refers to whether organizations perceive risk solely through the negative lens, opting for risk mitigation, or largely through the positive lens, opting for less risk mitigation and more value generation.

2.2 Traditional risk management

Before delving into Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) details, it is vital to understand its predecessor - Traditional Risk Management (TRM). TRM primarily emerged as a protective mechanism, akin to a ship's compass guiding it away from stormy weather. However, in contrast to the comprehensive approach of ERM, TRM has a narrower focus. It typically deals with insurable risks, such as property damage, legal liabilities, and employee injuries, and financial risk such as currency, commodity and credit risk (Dionne, 2013; Hoyt & Liebenberg, 2011). Moreover, it is generally characterized by its siloed approach, where different risks are managed in isolation, often by separate departments without a coherent overreaching strategy, ultimately leaving the responsibility to the head of each department (Eckles et al., 2011). In the context of the oil and gas sector, for instance, a company might address operational risks such as equipment failure separately from financial risks like currency fluctuations. This lack of integration could lead to an incomplete understanding of the full spectrum of risks and might cause inefficiencies and lost opportunities for risk mitigation. Another essential feature of TRM is its reactive nature. Similar to a captain who only adjusts course when a storm is visible on the horizon, traditional risk managers often respond to risks once they materialize rather than proactively identifying and mitigating them in advance (Eckles et al., 2011).

TRM is like using a simple compass and a basic map; it offers some guidance but lacks the advanced tools needed to navigate complex environments. This approach may not be sufficient in the rapidly evolving and interconnected world of the energy sector, where risks can be multifaceted and interdependent (Deloitte US, 2013).

As companies grew and the business landscape became more complex, the limitations of TRM became increasingly evident (Aven, 2016). The demand for a more holistic approach to managing not just the individual risks but the interplay between them led to the development of ERM (Farrell & Gallagher, 2015). This transition is akin to a ship's captain upgrading from a basic compass to a state-of-the-art navigation system that accounts for various variables in real-time, enabling safer and more efficient journeys.

2.3 Enterprise risk management

Despite its prevalence in modern management, experts and practitioners still lack agreement on a uniform and concrete definition of ERM. While many concur that ERM aims to comprehensively manage all the risks a company faces, in contrast to the fragmented approach of traditional risk management (Hoyt & Liebenberg, 2003), perspectives differ regarding the nature of risk itself, leading to diverse definitions and applications of ERM. Consequently, akin to the manner in which perception of risk fundamentally distinguishes TRM and ERM, risk perception also defines the manner in which ERM is defined and what it entails.

According to McShane et al. (2015), these differences in perspective can be categorized into two primary distinctions. Firstly, there is a divergence between those who see risk as an independent concept and those who define risk in the context of achieving organizational objectives. For instance, Dickinson (2001)

represents the former, defining ERM as "... a systematic and integrated approach of the management of the total risks a company faces".

In contrast, D'Arcy and Brogan (2001) adopt the latter perspective, defining ERM as: "the process by which organizations in all industries assess, control, exploit, finance and monitor risks from all sources for the purpose of increasing the organization's short and long term value to its shareholders".

The second distinction emphasizes the differing perceptions of risk as either a challenge to be mitigated or an opportunity for value generation. For example, Verbrugge et al. (2020) lean towards the value generations perspective, defining ERM as: ".. corporate-wide, as opposed to departmentalized, efforts to manage all the firm's risks — in fact, its total liability structure — in a way that helps management to carry out its goal of maximizing the value of the firm's assets. It amounts to a highly coordinated attempt to use the right-hand side of the balance sheet to support the left-hand side — which, as finance theory tells us, is where most of the value is created".

Other significant contributors to the ERM literature are Hoyt and Liebenberg (2003), who studied the determinants of ERM, and Nocco and Stultz (2006), who studied the theory and practice of ERM. The latter study refers to ERM as a conceptually straightforward concept which manages all risks together within a coordinated strategic framework to effectively create a long-run competitive advantage over those firms that manage and monitor risks individually. However, while the definition is pretty "straightforward", the authors stress that the implementation of ERM is not.

Hoyt and Liebenberg, like Nocco and Stultz, also emphasize the potential upsides of ERM compared to traditional risk management in their definition: "Unlike the traditional "silo-based" approach to corporate risk management, ERM enables firms to benefit from an integrated approach to managing risk that shifts the focus of the risk management function from primarily defensive to increasingly offensive and strategic. ERM enables firms to manage a wide array of risks in an integrated, holistic fashion."

In essence, these definitions and distinctions provide nuanced insights into ERM. They illustrate that ERM addresses an array of risks and implies a strategic, integrated approach towards risk management, which is adapted to organizational objectives and value creation. However, while the various definitions of ERM offer a clear understanding of what it entails, they do not address the key question of who is responsible for its initiation, implementation, and maintenance. This is where COSO's definition emerges, as it highlights that the board of directors, or the top management, through their corporate governance policies, play a crucial role in ERM. COSO has been instrumental in shaping corporate governance practices over the last three decades, making it imperative also to consider their definition of ERM:

"ERM is a process, effected by an entity's board of directors, management and other personnel, applied in strategy setting and across the enterprise, designed to identify potential events that may affect the entity, and manage risk to be within its risk appetite, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the achievement of entity objectives." (Altman, 2004)

By reviewing the various definitions, it is evident that the critical elements of ERM can be understood. Three points based on the various definitions are outlined below to summarize the emerging consensus.

First, traditional risk management typically views risk as a problem to be mitigated, often focusing only on the potential negative consequences (P. Kapstad, personal communication, June 1, 2023). However, as the well-known investment phrase "no risk, no reward" suggests, risk can also bring benefits. As such, ERM suggests that companies with the ability to manage risk effectively can gain a competitive advantage. The energy industry is a good illustration of this, as energy prices are often volatile. Instead of trying to reduce these inherent risks, companies with expertise in managing these price fluctuations can benefit by investing in energy or providing consulting services (M. McShane et al., 2015).

The second and most significant aspect of ERM is that it focuses on managing the entire risk portfolio of a company instead of managing risks in isolation. For example, a multinational company with subsidiaries in different countries would benefit from a holistic approach to risk management, as different currency fluctuations can have both positive and negative effects on the company. Petter Kapstad at Equinor identifies portfolio optimization as a cornerstone of ERM. A primary advantage of ERM is its capacity to streamline the capital structure,

which can be facilitated through portfolio optimization. Consequently, the company is better positioned to conduct a more efficient review of whether the risk-return trade-off offered by the portfolio aligns with acceptable risk appetite levels.

In addition to TRM, ERM also encompasses strategic risks. This shift in focus sets ERM apart from its counterpart, as it takes a more forward-looking and goaloriented approach. This is reflected in the definitions of ERM, which prioritize managing risks in a way that supports the attainment of organizational objectives and drives value creation. The inclusion of strategic risks in ERM acknowledges the importance of considering both the need for a comprehensive and integrated approach to risk management.

In conclusion, we emphasize the relevance of COSO's definition since it captures the three key consensus points outlined above. Additionally, it has served as a benchmark in our data collection process in determining whether the company in question has an ERM program.

Now that we have ascertained what ERM constitutes, it seems natural to elaborate briefly on its history. The following section thus furnishes the emergence and subsequent development of ERM. In broad terms, ERM emerged in response to the increased complexity in business environments and regulatory amendments in terms of corporate governance. Accordingly, section 4 on corporate governance can be perceived as an extension of section 3, providing deeper insights into the relation between ERM and corporate governance.

3. The Evolution of ERM

Risk management emerged as a discipline shortly after World War II, evolving significantly to encompass a broad range of definitions and applications. However, this section focuses solely on Enterprise Risk Management, examining the key historical events that played a vital role in its emergence and development.

The origin of ERM can be traced back to the late 1980s and early 1990s, a period characterized by corporate scandals due to poor governance practices among large firms, leading to a loss of trust among investors, shareholders, regulators, and other stakeholders (Leech, 2003). This environment prompted an increased focus on internal control as a means of regaining trust and addressing stakeholders' concerns. Subsequently, financial institutions began developing internal risk management models (Dionne, 2013), and commissions were established to amend current practices to incorporate risk management into internal control (M. McShane, 2018).

The 1990s witnessed significant developments in corporate governance and risk management, such as the 1992 publication of the Cadbury Report (1992), the COSO Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2004), the 1998 Hampel Report (1998), and the 1999 Turnbull Report (1999). These developments were instrumental in shaping modern ERM by highlighting the importance of governance in risk management.

COSO, founded in 1985, played a particularly prominent role in evolution of ERM through its frameworks. In 1992, COSO published the Internal Control – Integrated Framework to help companies assess the effectiveness of their internal controls, which proved to be instrumental in improving financial reporting (Schandl & Foster, 2019). This framework became the standard, further cemented by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (SOX) in 2002, which stipulated governance rules for listed U.S. Companies and mandated the use of recognized frameworks for reporting on internal control effectiveness (Dionne, 2013).

COSO responded to the changing landscape by publishing the Enterprise Risk Management – Integrated Framework in 2004, aiming for a more comprehensive approach to risk management. However, the distinction between internal control and ERM blurred due to their similarities, causing ERM to initially receive limited attention. (Altman, 2004; Frigo & Anderson, 2011).

To sum up, ERM evolved from the internal control movement, significantly influenced by governance practices and regulatory developments. In the next section, we delve deeper into how corporate governance has continued to evolve and its strategic alignment with ERM.

4. Corporate Governance

4.1 Corporate governance and ERM

Corporate governance encompasses a wide range of definitions due to its broad reach and implications. It is generally understood as the system of rules, policies, and processes that guide the direction and control of an organization to achieve its objectives while considering the interests of its shareholders and other stakeholders (Gillan, 2006). The ISO 37000, a recognized international standard for governance guidance, provides another perspective. It defines corporate governance as a system by which organizations are directed and controlled, prioritizing ethical behavior, organizational performance, and compliance with laws and regulations (ISO Technical Committee, 2022). On the contrary, according to the OECD Principles of Corporate Governance, another international standard, it involves "a set of relationships between a company's management, its board, its shareholders and other stakeholders" and is primarily concerned with "providing the structure through which the objectives of the company are set, and the means of attaining those objectives and monitoring performance are determined (OECD, 2015).

Effective corporate governance requires a clear understanding of the roles and responsibilities of the board, management, and shareholders. The CEO and management are responsible for constructing, managing, and executing organizational strategies, including strategic planning, financial reporting, and risk management. The board, concurrently oversees the management and the company's strategies focusing on generating long-term value for stakeholders, and monitors and advises the CEO on key organizational areas such as strategy and risk management (The Harvard Law School, 2016).

The importance of effective corporate governance and risk management was historically highlighted through regulatory amendments such as the COSO Internal Control – Integrated Framework in 1992 and the SOX act in 2002, which was discussed in section 3. While these initiatives aimed to enhance corporate governance and risk management, they primarily focused on the importance of internal controls and regulatory compliance.

In response to the need for a more comprehensive approach to risk management, the concept of ERM gained increasing attention, emphasizing the importance of governance structures and processes in managing risks and creating value. ERM incorporates risk management into the organization's overall strategy and objectives, highlighting the collaboration between the board, management, and other stakeholders. In 2004, the COSO Enterprise Risk Management – Integrated Framework was introduced as a risk management standard, providing a holistic approach to identifying, assessing, and responding to risks (SoxOnline, 2004).

For companies operating in sectors like oil and gas that face complex and dynamic risks, understanding the principles of ERM and its relationship with corporate governance, through the various definitions and perspectives, is vital for creating long-term value for stakeholders. Strategic consideration is a key factor in this understanding.

4.2 The strategic aspect

As illustrated in Section 3, the importance of aligning risk management with corporate governance became apparent following regulatory amendments. The strategic aspect of this alignment is vital. Sobel and Reding (2004), and later Frigo and Anderson (2011), emphasized that for effective risk management, ERM and governance processes must evolve together. Specifically, they noted that the integration of strategic risks – "the top risks of an organization" – is foundational for improving both ERM and governance (OECD, 2014). This integration implies a dynamic interrelationship between ERM and corporate governance, which necessitates clearly delineated responsibilities for the board, its committees and management. For effective risk management, this could include establishing risk committees and risk manager positions, and ensuring efficient communication channels (The Institute of Internal Auditors, 2013).

Evidence of strategic integration is reflected in the evolving responsibilities of risk managers, as noted in the European Risk Manager Report of 2020 and 2022 (Federation of European Risk Management Association - FERMA, 2022). These reports reveal a persistent trend of incorporating risk management into strategy

setting and decision-making, especially in response to significant global events like the Covid-19 pandemic and geopolitical tensions.

The idea of strategically aligning risk management with governance is not new. Miller (1992), an early scholar in integrated risk management, the first form of enterprise risk management, highlighted the importance of this alignment, suggesting that a framework should identify and assess uncertainties relevant to strategy formulation (design). This emphasis on strategic considerations is now more important than ever and sets the stage for examining the pivotal role of the board of directors in risk management, which is covered in section 4.3.

In conclusion, incorporating ERM into corporate governance is not merely a compliance activity but a strategic necessity. As ERM has evolved, so too has its integration witch corporate governance, with an increased emphasis on aligning risk management with the organization's strategic goals. The next section, 4.3, further explores the central role of the board of directors in this alignment and in the risk management process.

4.3 The board of directors and risk management

As we transition from the strategic alignment between corporate governance and ERM, it's essential to emphasize the role of the board of directors in risk management. Sobel and Reding, whom we referenced earlier, highlighted the importance of the board's engagement in risk management processes, calling for robust risk oversight (DeLoach, 2010). This perspective was echoed by Beasley et al. (2016), who noted the escalating expectations for stronger risk oversight, especially after the financial crisis.

In 2010, the SEC mandated that public companies disclose the board's role in risk oversight in annual proxy statements (Securities and Exchange Commission, 2009). Consequently, boards were tasked with thoroughly evaluating whether management's risk management policies were aligned with the company's strategy and risk appetite, and whether these policies cultivated and enterprisewide culture conducive to appropriate risk awareness and decision-making (Brownstein et al., 2018). Understanding the implications of the board's role in risk oversight is critical. Firstly, it includes comprehending and approving the risk management processes initiated by the management. Secondly, the board should evaluate the risks identified by the management and oversee actions taken to govern these risks. Beasley et al. (2016) outlined critical questions that boards should consider to optimize their risk governance responsibilities. These questions encompasses understanding the characteristics of firms adopting ERM, the techniques included in an ERM process, and the role of internal audits. Furthermore, they should explore how ERM processes are incorporated with strategy and assess the impact of ERM on firm value and performance.

While an in-depth analysis of these questions is beyond the scope of this thesis, it is important to recognize that risk governance is not solely about compliance, but also about driving business value. The board must consider the strategic implications of risk governance and adopt a proactive approach to risk management. Through an integrated understanding of ERM processes and effective risk governance, boards can create significant value and foster sustainable organizational growth. A company to a large extent has successfully grasped this understanding is Equinor, which we provide further details on in section 5.

5. ERM in Practice – Equinor

Equinor, the largest company in Norway serves as an excellent example of effectively incorporating ERM as a crucial element within its corporate governance. Most of this section is based on Equinor's disclosure on risk management in their annual reports (Equinor, 2022). However, this insight is also garnered in part from a conversation with Petter Kapstad, a seasoned specialist in Risk Management at Equinor, who has an impressive 14-year tenure as the architect and custodian of the company's risk management function.

As an energy giant with a core focus on the E&P of oil and gas, Equinor operates within an environment fraught with a myriad of risks – some within its control, while others beyond. These risks span financial, security, business, and political domains. In response, Equinor has embraced an ERM framework that champions enterprise-wide accountability. The company diligently undertakes risk analyses, monitoring, and assurance across all branches of its operations to fend off adverse outcomes. At its core, Equinor's ERM is anchored in a holistic strategy that aligns all operational and corporate risks with optimal resolutions. This streamlines the risk management process, curtails the volume of risk management transactions, and circumvents sub-optimization that could arise from managing a diverse range of risks in tandem (P. Kapstad, personal communication, June 1, 2023). Moreover, this all-encompassing approach affords the management and board a panoramic view of capital allocation within the company. As Kapstad notes, this granular insight into capital deployment empowers Equinor to calibrate its capital structure as conveniently. With a keen understanding of the risks at play, the company is adept at perceiving if the potential returns are commensurate with the risks undertaken. The overarching aim is to navigate risk in alignment with the company's protocols, while concurrently sidestepping incidents that may affect human rights or business integrity.

Equinor's risk management methodology is based on the ISO 31000 standard, which accentuates the significance of risk management within strategic planning. This contrasts with the COSO framework, which is opted more toward overarching corporate governance and auditing of risk management activities (Gjerdrum & Peter, 2011). Adhering to the ISO standard equips Equinor with the tools to consistently evaluate risks and augment the efficacy of decision-making. This comprehensive approach ensures risks are properly identified, explained, assessed, and managed. Accordingly, risk management is assimilated as an IT instrument within Equinor's managerial framework, encompassing the translation of its mission, vision, and strategy into strategic goals, risks, actions, and KPIs. Furthermore, it is worth highlighting the ingrained risk culture within Equinor (P. Kapstad, personal communication, June 1, 2023). With a rich heritage in risk management, all employees are familiar with the potential advantages and pitfalls pertinent to their roles. ERM is ever-present within the organization and utilizes instruments with which the entire workforce is proficient. This paves the way for the initiation of risk-adjusted actions and corresponding assurance measures, for sharp risk management.

Equinor's Corporate Risk Committee, headed by the CFO, is responsible for the company's ERM. This committee is charged with the oversight of internal controls and risk management. Alongside the Audit Committee, it evaluates and monitors the efficacy of the practices on place. Twice a year, the board is presented with an appraisal of the principal enterprise risks. In adherence to established protocols, all risk-related actions undergo scrutiny to ensure the company's risk profile is in sync with the desired thresholds.

The involvement of Equinor's board (the top management) in the ERM process indicates a top-down risk management structure which, as discussed in the corporate governance section, is a central aspect within successful ERM. It also sheds light on the importance of establishing governance structures and practices that foster an enterprise-wide risk management culture, effectively connecting general business management with risk management.

6. Development of Key Variables

Understanding ERM in the context of prior literature serves two essential purposes. First, it clarifies the evolving nature of ERM and its potential impact on firm value, which is the main objective of this study. By examining past studies, we can draw on a wealth of insights and findings to inform our approach and build upon the existing body of knowledge.

Secondly, diving into previous literature provides a clear path to navigate the various methodologies and theories used in the study of ERM. Given the inconsistencies in ERM measurement, as we elaborate on shortly, it is crucial to understand these different approaches and their implications. Similarly, it becomes pertinent to comprehend how firm value has been presented, often through Tobin's Q, and especially how different firm characteristics influence the decision to implement ERM.

In the subsequent sections, we explore these aspects in detail, drawing on past research to pave the way for our analysis. This section serves as a bridge that connects our study's goals with the larger discourse on ERM and its influence on firm value.

6.1 Measurement inconsistencies

According to McShane et al. (2011) and Hoyt & Liebenberg (2003), a significant difficulty in conducting ERM research is identifying a reliable and accurate measure of ERM. The lack of transparency concerning how firms manage risk in an integrated manner means that researchers must rely on perceived ERM indications obtained in a company's annual reports and press releases. This has resulted in various measures of ERM implementation being employed in research literature. For example, Beasley, Pagach, and Warr (2008) used the appointment of a CRO as a proxy for ERM implementation, while Gordon, Loeb, and Tseng (2009) developed their own ERM index based on a list of specific firm variables. Alternatively, Beasley, Clune, and Hermanson (2005) used surveys to determine whether a company had implemented ERM.

Despite all the potential advantages and disadvantages each measurement method brings, the empirical research on ERM has delivered contrasting results for years. The use of different ERM determinations may cause inconsistency and perplexity both in terms of reviewing existing knowledge as well as future research. Therefore, it is reasonable to divide ERM research into groups based on the method of measuring ERM implementation.

6.1.1 CRO as proxy for ERM

The first category uses the appointment of CRO as a signal for ERM implementation. The primary role of the CRO is to manage the coordination of the ERM program and to communicate goals and results to the board (Hoyt & Liebenberg, 2003). Examples of such studies are (M. Beasley et al., 2008; Hoyt & Liebenberg, 2003, 2011; Pagach & Warr, 2011).

According to Hoyt & Liebenberg and Beasley et al., firms appoint CROs to implement and manage the ERM program. In this way, the announcement of a CRO appointment signals that the firm has, or will, establish an ERM program. However, firms without CROs may in fact have implemented ERM, thus providing grounds for questioning the reliability of the proxy. Some firms use a committee system or a risk manager or incorporate the ERM responsibility in the CFO or CEO function. Consequently, observing and determining whether CEOs, CFOs, risk managers, or risk committees are in fact head of the ERM implementation is complicated. Most companies disclose minimal details of their risk management programs. Therefore, using CRO as a signal is affirmative, following the argument that firms appoint CROs to manage their ERM program.

Empirical research confirms that the presence of CRO is associated with a greater stage of ERM implementation within a company (M. S. Beasley et al., 2005). Because of its scope and impact, ERM implementation requires strong support from senior management, which coincides with the hiring of a CRO (Adam et al., 2023). Additionally, Beasley et.al (2008) listed three possible reasons for why firms may appoint CROs. First, to fulfill a newly created CRO position in the organizational structure, making it reasonable to assume that the firm is about to adopt ERM, or has started to recognize opportunities with risk management. Second, the need to replace an existing CRO, which to some extent indicates that

ERM already is a part of the company's management. Third, to reflect the officer's responsibility properly by changing the title to CRO. In sum, these three arguments provide valid reasons for why CRO appointments are used as proxies for ERM, as they highlight the correspondence between the presence of a CRO and the fact that a company is engaged in ERM activities. On the contrary, there is no denying the validity of the criticism against the use of the CRO as a proxy for ERM. They are not mutually exclusive since one may exist without the other, thus potentially laying grounds for erroneous analysis.

6.1.2 Modelling ERM index based on firm-specific information

The second category of studies uses firm-specific information to determine ERM adoption and level of implementation. Examples of studies from this category include Gordon et al. (2009) and Alawattegama (2017), who used the COSO framework to determine ERM adoption. Gordon created an ERM index based on COSOs four objectives of ERM: strategy, operations, reporting, and compliance. Alawattegama, on the other hand, modeled an ERM index using COSOs eight interrelated components of ERM: objective settings, event identification, risk assessment, risk response, information and communication, control activities, and monitoring. Both studies demonstrate that the effectiveness of ERM implementation is dependent on its ability to fit within the COSO framework.

Moreover, a sub-category of this category is reflected by studies that rely on externally produced ERM indexes. Standard and Poor's (S&P) ERM evaluation index is a commonly used measure which is, for instance, used in McShane et al.'s (2011) study on the relationship between ERM implementation and firm value, to indicate ERM adoption and implementation. The researchers argued that the use of Standard and Poor's ERM index provides an extensive view of firms' ERM implementation since the index is based on a careful review of the firms' risk management culture, risk control processes, emerging risk management, and economic capital models, and strategic risk management.

Baxter et al. (2013) investigated the determinants of ERM program quality using the S&P-ERM index as a proxy for ERM. In line with McShane et al. (2011), the researchers argue that the S&P index truly reflects a firm's ERM status due to the comprehensive nature of methodology used, combined with the access to nonpublic information about risk management processes within the firm. However, using the S&P index has its restrictions. The index is only available to specific industries and countries with mainly developed economies (Baxter et al., 2013). Moreover, the rating agencies have been criticized for their subjectivity, as ratings have been distorted by their business relationship with clients, which may weaken the credibility of the S&P-ERM index assigned to firms (M. K. McShane et al., 2011). Although rating agencies publish their rating methodologies, client confidentiality makes independent validation difficult, as the extent of necessary public information to make reliable ratings may not be sufficient.

Another sub-category detects ERM implementation by, first, manually searching for ERM-related terms in annual reports such as "strategic risk management", "enterprise risk management", "corporate risk management", "enterprise-wide risk management", "integrated risk management", "risk committee", "risk manager", "chief risk officer", "holistic risk management", and second, subsequently contextually analyzing their relevance to affirm that they do in fact reflect ERM activities (Anton & Nucu, 2020; Hoyt & Liebenberg, 2011; Lechner & Gatzert, 2018). This is the ERM measurement method employed in our study, and we used COSO's ERM definition as a benchmark to decide whether companies had ERM systems in place.

6.1.3 Survey responses to determine ERM

The last category of research utilizes surveys and questionnaire responses to determine ERM adoption and implementation. For instance, both Beasley et al. (2005) and Annamalah et al. (2018) used a survey and questionnaires, respectively to determine the extent of firms' ERM adoption. Beasley et al. studied the impact of ERM adoption on the internal audit function, using COSO's ERM components as design for the survey. A broad set of questions allowed them to obtain comprehensive information on each firm's ERM practices, after which the responses were used to determine the extent of ERM implementation based on COSOs ERM components.

Annamalah et al. conducted a questionnaire using senior officials of companies with at least some experience with ERM in the Malaysian oil and gas sector. Even though questionnaires enable loads of information to be obtained, the expertise and ERM commitment of the respondents is critical to producing a survey that provides relevant and proper information on firms' ERM. This reduces the number of possible respondents to a limited number of senior officials and top management staff involved in a company's ERM implementation (Adam et al., 2023). A restricted number of respondents makes it challenging to conduct a comprehensive survey, which reduces the quality and quantity of information on ERM obtained in a survey, making it challenging to construct an ERM measure.

In conclusion, while there are various methods of measuring ERM, and each method has advantages and disadvantages, no method is universally applicable given the intricate nature of ERM itself. For instance, we have chosen to manually scan annual reports, which is a method that may not be favorable in other contexts.

6.2 Firm value - Tobin's Q

Firm value, or enterprise value, represents the total value of a company, which should not be confused with market value. Although these two concepts are often used interchangeably, the distinction between them is important. While market value reflects the perceived value of a company by investors, it can provide a limited and potentially misleading view of the company's overall worth. In contrast, firm value considers a broader range of factors, including debt and cash reserves, thus providing a complete measure of the company's value. Precisely, firm value is calculated as the market value of the company's equity plus its outstanding debt, less the amount of cash and cash equivalents it holds (Corporate Finance Institute, 2023). As such, it represents the total value of the company that would be required for its acquisition and is a crucial metric for evaluating a company's financial health and performance.

Calculating firm value can be a highly complicated process. As such, it is customary to use Tobin's Q as a proxy for firm value, which has been consistently successful in a broad spectrum of studies examining firm value in various contexts (Bertinetti et al., 2013; Hoyt & Liebenberg, 2011; Lechner & Gatzert, 2018; M. K. McShane et al., 2011). Tobin's Q compares the market value of a firm's assets to its replacement cost and has been used to measure the value effects on, for instance, board size, inside ownership, and industrial diversification. Unlike other measures, Tobin's Q does not require risk adjustment or normalization and is relatively free from managerial manipulation, making it predominant compared to stock returns (Hoyt & Liebenberg, 2011). Moreover, Tobin's Q reflects investors' future expectations, distinct from historical accounting measures such as ROA. The future expectations are crucial, as the benefits of ERM implementation are not expected to be immediately realized; thus, a lag between implementation and realization should be expected. Based on existing literature, Tobin's Q as a proxy for firm value is the most used measure in empirical risk management studies. Accordingly, Tobin's Q is our model's dependent variable.

In the realm of ERM literature, a limited number of studies have directly investigated the relationship between ERM and firm value, with an even smaller subset addressing the oil and gas sector. Anton and Nucu (2020) classify the ERM literature into three primary streams: 1) ERM implementation, 2) ERM effectiveness in relation to performance, and 3) determinants of ERM adoption. They emphasize the need for industry diversity in existing literature. Hoyt and Liebenberg are pivotal scholars in the ERM field, providing valuable theoretical and empirical insights into ERM, especially into the two latter streams. Specifically, their paper on "The value of Enterprise Risk Management" from 2011, suggests that enterprise risk management theoretically could increase firm value by improving coordination, identification of risk interdependencies, and enhancing capital efficiency (Hoyt & Liebenberg, 2011). While their discussion includes specific mention of US insurers, these principles are broadly applicable and highly relevant for the oil and gas sector, which faces a complex web of operational, environmental, and regulatory risks. Based on our perceptive talk with Petter Kapstad, we can confirm the relevance of all three principles. For example, Kapstad assures that ERM's portfolio management facilitates more efficient use of a company's capital. Specifically, he mentions the use of "efficient frontiers" as ERM tools since they detect sub-optimal portfolios (located below the frontier) that do not offer enough return for the level of risk. Furthermore, according to Hoyt and Liebenberg, the signaling aspect of ERM in

communicating a firm's risk profile and commitment to risk management can be particularly beneficial for oil and gas companies in engaging stakeholders and navigating regulatory environments. Hence, since oil and gas companies to a large extent face scrutiny in terms of environmental and safety practices, this aspect in particular may enhance value.

6.3 Firm characteristics of ERM adoption and determinants of firm value - key variables

As we delve into the details of ERM adoption and its impact on firm value, it is imperative to consider the literature pool that has been developed over the years. Anton and Nucu's (2020) extensive literature review study suggests that despite some ambiguous outcomes, the prevailing opinion leans toward a positive relationship between ERM and firm performance (Farrell & Gallagher, 2015; Florio & Leoni, 2017; Hoyt & Liebenberg, 2011; Pagach & Warr, 2011). However, the literature also reveals that this relationship is not uniform and can be influenced by various factors such as the appointment of a CRO, the sophistication of the ERM program, corporate governance, and firm characteristics (M. S. Beasley et al., 2005; Bertinetti et al., 2013; Gordon et al., 2009; Pagach & Warr, 2011). In particular, understanding the role of firm characteristics is essential as they often shape an organization's risk profile and risk management approach. Pagach and Warr, and Beasley et al. emphasize the importance of considering firm-specific and contextual factors in understanding the relationship between ERM and firm performance. This section critically analyzes some of these firm characteristics based on existing literature and discusses their relevance to ERM adoption and their correlation with firm value, finalizing the foundation for our hypothesis development.

Firm size is an essential characteristic that several research articles have found to influence the adoption of ERM (M. S. Beasley et al., 2005; Farrell & Gallagher, 2015; Hoyt & Liebenberg, 2011; Pagach & Warr, 2011). Both Hoyt & Liebenberg and Pagach & Warr compared a set of firm characteristics on firms that had appointed a chief risk officer to guide their risk management. The two studies found that, on average, CRO-hiring firms are much larger than non-CRO-hiring,
and that these firms tend to be among the largest in their specific industry. This aligns with the findings of Farrell & Gallagher (2015), Lin (2011), and Lechner & Gatzert (2018), who claimed that larger firms have sufficient institutional size, such as financial, technological, and human resources, to support the administrative cost of an ERM program. Furthermore, Kinyar's (2020) findings revealed that firm size has a positive and significant impact on firm value of firms adopting ERM in the North American energy sector. The positive effect on firm value was more substantial in larger firms, indicating that larger firms benefit more from implementing ERM compared to smaller ones. On the other hand, Aldoseri (2022) found a positive but insignificant effect on firm value. This indicates that the size of a company alone is insufficient to enhance its overall value.

Moreover, Pagach & Warr (2011) articulated that firms characterized by a high degree of asset opacity may be more willing to implement ERM. During periods of financial distress, liquidating these opaque assets can be challenging due to the associated information asymmetry, which often results in undervaluation. Furthermore, Hoyt & Liebenberg (2003) suggest that opaque firms may find ERM advantageous to effectively communicate their risk management objectives and strategies to outsiders, which is a crucial step for firms that understand the difficulty outsiders face in evaluating opaque firms. Opaque assets may, as mentioned, lead to firms being underestimated and undervalued. It is therefore reasonable to believe that a higher degree of opaque assets leads to reduced firm value. Although previous literature suggests that opacity may increase the likelihood of ERM, the statistical results are quite ambiguous (Gatzert & Martin, 2015; Lechner & Gatzert, 2018). Based on the arguments outlined in this section, we believe that larger firms are more likely to achieve higher firm value. Contrastingly, we believe that asset opacity reduces firm value. We therefore hypothesize:

H1: Firm size positively affects Tobin's QH2: Asset opacity negatively affects Tobin's Q

Correspondingly, CRO-hiring firms are generally more levered than non-hiring firms (Hoyt & Liebenberg, 2003). Leveraged firms face agency costs to a large extent because of conflicting interests between shareholders and lenders. Moreover, these firms face a greater probability of financial distress due to increased financial leverage and therefore are more likely to adopt ERM (Pagach & Warr, 2011). On the other hand, due to ERM implementation, Hoyt & Liebenberg (2011) claim that companies may increase their financial leverage as ERM improves risk appreciation. Accordingly, financial leverage can increase firm value to the extent that it reduces the surplus cash flow, which self-interested managers might otherwise have allocated towards projects that do not optimally serve the company's interests. However, previous literature has yielded ambiguous results on the relationship between ERM implementation, financial leverage, and firm value. Pagach & Warr argues that companies with an ERM program can allocate internal resources more efficiently, reducing the financial leverage and subsequently the probability of default. Alternatively, as already described, firms can increase debt in their financial structure because ERM enables better risk monitoring. Both Aldoseri (2022) and Kinyar (2020) found a relation between leverage and ERM in the North American and Saudi energy sectors, respectively. The first article showed that leverage negatively and significantly affected firm value, implying that leveraged firms bear higher levels of financial risk and reduced firm value. Consequently, Kinyar found that a positive effect of ERM adoption on firm value is more pronounced for firms with higher leverage, indicating that firms with more leverage are more exposed to financial risks and thus could benefit from ERM implementation to increase firm value. Despite the ambiguity of ERM and leverage, we follow Lechner & Gatzert (2018), and hypothesize the following:

H3: Increased financial leverage increases Tobin's Q

The positive relation between profitability and firm value is generally accepted in most prior studies. Return on assets (ROA), for instance, is widely discussed (Aldoseri, 2022; Bertinetti et al., 2013; Hoyt & Liebenberg, 2011; Lechner & Gatzert, 2018; M. McShane, 2018). Bertinetti et al., Aldoseri, and Lechner & Gatzert found a positive and significant relation between ROA and firm value in their respective studies, indicating that, intuitively, increased profitability enhances firm value. Additionally, the consensus underscores that firms with high ROA tend to be more inclined to allocate sufficient financial resources for ERM implementation. In sum, ROA is recognized as a positive influential factor on firm value, and we therefore hypothesize the following.

H4: Increased ROA increases Tobin's Q

The correlation between dividend payment and firm value has been found to differ across various research studies. As outlined by Hoyt & Liebenberg (2011) the anticipated impact on firm value is unclear. On one hand, cash distributions in the form of dividends could be perceived as an indication that the company has exhausted its growth opportunities, which could potentially diminish firm value. Similarly, Bertinetti et al. (2013) claims that dividend payment can signal a lack of new projects with positive NPV, which also could reduce firm value. On the other hand, dividend payment may decrease the amount of surplus cash available that might be directed towards discretionary spending by the management (Hoyt & Liebenberg, 2011). Furthermore, dividends can send a positive message to the capital market about the company's financial health, suggesting they could potentially enhance firm value (Lechner & Gatzert, 2018). In previous literature, the impact of dividends on firm value illustrates a mixed picture. While Hoyt & Liebenberg found a positive impact, Lechner & Gatzert's research indicated a negative effect, aligning with Bertinetti et al. who did not find a positive correlation.

However, we believe that dividend payments signal an efficient business, representing the prevalent determinant ROA in terms of sufficient financial resources to invest in ERM, and hence increase firm value. We therefore hypothesize the following:

H5: Dividend payment increases Tobin's Q.

Liquidity is rarely used as a determinant for ERM implementation and even less frequently as an influential component of firm value. This might be due to the possible relationship between liquid assets and ROA, which partially represents the company's efficiency and hence illustrates the likelihood of implementing ERM to increase firm value. This claim corresponds with Anton & Nucu (2020) and Lechner & Gatzert (2018), who suggest that firms with higher liquidities may have more possibilities to undertake profitable investments, such as adopting sophisticated ERM systems. However, the limited use of liquidity in relevant academic research raises concerns about whether the effect of liquidity can be isolated or if previous research found it more explanatory and relevant to use ROA as a measure of firm's willingness to use financial resources on actions that increase firm value. However, given that, on one hand, the literature argues for liquidity's ability to facilitate investments, and on the other, that ERM is a costly investment, we believe that it could influence firm value positively, and hypothesize the following. H6: *Increased liquidity increases Tobin's Q*.

International diversification is another factor that has been extensively examined in a significant body of existing pertinent literature (M. S. Beasley et al., 2005; Farrell & Gallagher, 2015; Hoyt & Liebenberg, 2011; Lechner & Gatzert, 2018). Risk management has become increasingly important for companies with international operations, due to the diverse and complex risks they face. As such, firm size and international diversification are related in terms of the increased complexity that both constitute. For example, Beasley et al. found that larger companies, those with a higher degree of complexity, and those operating internationally, are more likely to adopt ERM. Lin (2011) claimed that by expanding their business, companies encounter new risk factors that can be inherently different from the already existing risk portfolio. Both arguments call for a systematic and integrated approach to manage risk properly in the globalized business environments and to some extent, describe why international diversification is a characteristic of firms that adopt ERM. Moreover, Lechner & Gatzert provide ambiguous results on international diversification's influence on firm value. On one hand, diversification will likely result in performance enhancement due to economies of scope. On the other hand, difficulties in implementing ERM across national borders, combined with agency problems, may reduce firm value. This aligns with Farrell & Gallagher, who claims that international operations may dilute operational performance. In that manner, we believe that firms are more likely to implement ERM if they are diversified internationally, and thus enhancing their business performance. We therefore hypothesize that

H7: International diversification increases Tobin's Q.

In previous literature, growth opportunities are also commonly used firm characteristics of firms that adopt ERM. According to Hoyt & Liebenberg (2003), companies with greater growth opportunities face higher levels of uncertainty and require effective risk management practices to not only manage risks, but also to steer growth in the most advantageous direction. Congruent with the challenges of firm size and diversification, firms with growth opportunities tend to face higher levels of uncertainty as they may be expanding their business into, for example, new markets. Furthermore, growth may also lead to greater regulatory scrutiny, mainly if they operate in industries subject to extensive regulations, as Pagach & Warr (2011) exemplified. However, hardly any studies find evidence of a positive relationship between the implementation of ERM and growth opportunities. In Bertinetti et al.'s (2013) study, firm value was not affected by growth opportunities, prompting us to hypothesize the following. H8: *Growth opportunities reduce Tobin's Q*.

Surprisingly, hardly any prior research has considered sales growth as a determinant on firm value. Indeed, Hoyt & Liebenberg (2011) included sales growth but it was utilized to estimate growth opportunities, not as an independent variable representing sales growth. Nevertheless, we believe some qualified reasons exist to control for the effect of sales growth on firm value. Intuitively, a company's increase or decrease in sales will affect the overall firm value positively or negatively. If the company manages to increase its revenues yearly, it is likely that it also will have the opportunity to enhance its operating results and hence increase its value. Moreover, investors often use sales growth as an indicator of a company's future profits. High-growth firms may, for example, often have higher price-to-earnings ratios, which increases the company's stock price, and therefore its market value. Accordingly, we hypothesize the following. H9: *Sales growth increases Tobin's Q*.

Another aspect considered in previous literature is the selection of a firm's annual editor. More precisely, studies have been conducted on whether firms are more likely to implement ERM if the Big Four KPMG, EY, Deloitte or PWC audit their annual reports. Lechner & Gatzert (2018) found that ERM-adopting firms are more frequently audited by one of the Big Four auditing firms. Similarly, Beasley et al. (2005) showed that firms audited by the Big Four auditors are likely to be further into ERM implementation than those audited by non-Big Four auditors. One reason stated in the literature is that the Big Four auditors are more careful regarding the firms' annual reports to sustain their reputational level. Another possible explanation is that Big Four auditors may be more proactive in identifying, assessing, and managing risk, leading to an increased possibility of adopting comprehensive ERM systems. Moreover, the superior expertise and resources possessed by the Big Four auditors enhance the firm's ability to identify potential both down- and upside risks, which we believe contributes to enhancing

firm value. We therefore hypothesize the following. H10: *Being audited by one of the Big Four auditors increases Tobin's Q.*

In summary, prior research has identified a set of firm and financial characteristics associated with ERM adoption. High financial leverage, opaque assets, and large firm size, along with international diversification, growth opportunities, and whether the firm is audited by one of the Big Four auditors, are some of the characteristics that have been found to increase firm complexity and risk profile, which in turn requires a more holistic approach and sophisticated risk management systems.

7. Research Design

The purpose of this study is to quantitatively investigate the impact of ERM on firm value. By utilizing a quantitative approach, we aim to provide an objective assessment of this relationship, leveraging numerical data to yield measurable outcomes. Our research adopts a deductive approach, meaning that we use existing theory on ERM's influence on firm value to test specific hypotheses drawn from this theory. Our hypotheses propose specific relationships and trends that can be statistically tested with the data we have collected. The quantitative approach allows us to process large volumes of numerical data, and find patterns that might not be immediately visible, as well as enabling statistical comparison between various groups. This methodology is particularly suited to our research question, as they focus on quantifiable factors such as firm financial performance and ERM implementation.

The upcoming section, 7.1, delves into the process of data collection for our analysis. This involves data gathering through two distinct methods, each carrying its unique set of advantages and limitations. Moreover, we provide a detailed examination of our variable of interest, ERM, outlining the procedure through which we obtained the results. Furthermore, in 7.2, we furnish our control variables, explaining both the method of collecting them, as well as how they are calculated. Our dependent variable, Tobin's Q, is comprehensively detailed in section 6, hence, it will not be the focus of discussion in this section.

7.1 Data collection

The data collection procedure encompassed gathering financial information from 134 upstream companies in the energy sector spanning the period from 2010 to 2020, initially yielding 1419 observations. After excluding observations with missing values, the final sample comprises 957 observations across 113 companies. Of these, 76 companies have their headquarters in North America, while the remaining 37 are based in Europe. The rationale behind selecting companies form these two regions was to offer an extensive perspective of the effects of ERM om firm value across diverse geographical and regulatory

environments. The incorporation of firms from different regions enhances comparability, as it broadens our dataset.

The way the sample of 113 firms was assembled diverged based on the region. For North America, COMPUSTAT via Wharton Research Data Services (WRDS) was the primary source, consistent with methodologies employed by Hoyt & Liebenberg (2011) and Pagach and Warr (2011). WRDS' database provided us with a wide array of financial information such that we could compute the ratios required for generating variables pertinent to our study. Conversely, for the European sample, a more hands-on approach was adopted. Financial data from companies listed on various exchanges including Oslo Børs, NASDAQ Stockholm, NASDAQ Copenhagen, London Stock Exchange, and Borsa Italiana were manually collected, and the relevant financial ratios computed, following the approach taken by Bertinetti et al. (2013). Although this method is considerably more labor-intensive than utilizing databases like COMPUSTAT, it provides the benefit of thoroughly verifying each observation and monitoring variations over time.

Concerning the main variable of interest, ERM, substantial effort was spent in collecting adequate documentation to ascertain if the firms had implemented ERM. Given that ERM adoption disclosure is not mandatory in either the US or Europe, an extensive search for evidence of ERM was undertaken within each annual report. Following Hoyt and Liebenberg (2011) and Lechner and Gatzert (2018), firms employing ERM were identified by scanning for specific keywords in the annual reports including enterprise risk management, strategic risk management, corporate risk management, traditional risk management, chief risk officer, risk management, holistic risk management, risk committee, integrated risk management and COSO. Hoyt and Liebenberg (2003, 2011) posit that "chief risk officer" and "risk committee" are central terms for the establishment and oversight of an ERM framework, and other terms are frequently employed interchangeably with ERM, which underpins the selection of these specific keywords. All instances of these keywords were carefully evaluated in context to determine if ERM had been adopted. In instances where ERM evidence was not overtly visible, the entirety of the risk management section was reviewed to gain an in-depth insight into the firm's risk management practices. The ERM definition by COSO was used as a benchmark in this process.

Furthermore, we observed that several companies had only partially implemented ERM. For example, searches for "integrated risk management" or "strategic risk management" frequently yielded results such as "foreign exchange rate risk" and "interest rate risk management". In such instances, the related ERM variable was assigned the value 0 since, in our empirical analysis, the ERM variable is binary, assuming the value 1 if evidence suggests ERM implementation, and 0 if not.

The S&P ERM rating discussed in the literature review could also have been used as a proxy for ERM. However, access to this database was restricted. In addition, this rating has been criticized for its subjectivity as reflected by business relations with clients. Accordingly, we chose to scan all annual reports for ERM evidence manually to obtain a reliable estimate of whether companies had implemented ERM.

7.2 Variables and measurement

7.2.1 Control variables

Most of the variables employed in our study align with prior literature, encompassing firm size, asset opacity, leverage, ROA, dividend, international diversification, growth opportunities, and the company's annual auditor. Additionally, we have chosen to incorporate liquidity and annual sales growth to control for both the cash and revenue trend on an annual basis with respect to Tobin's Q.

Consistent with the predominant research in this domain (Bertinetti et al., 2013; Gatzert & Martin, 2015; Gordon et al., 2009; Hoyt & Liebenberg, 2003, 2011; Lechner & Gatzert, 2018; McShane et al., 2011), we employed the natural logarithm (LN) of the book value of assets as a basis to compute the size variable. The rationale behind this choice is the plausible assumption that larger firms are more inclined to utilize ERM as a strategic tool for enhancing their aggregate value. Consequently, the inclusion of the size variable is aimed at capturing any fluctuations in Tobin's Q attributable to the scale of the company. In alignment with Pagach & Warr (2011) and Hoyt & Liebenberg (2003), we also addressed issues associated with firms with a high degree of opaque assets. As explained in the literature review, the presence of opaque assets could invertedly lead to undervaluation of firms, thereby diminishing the aggregate value of the firm. Concerning methodologies employed in previous literature, we assessed asset opacity by computing the ratio of intangible assets to total assets. Subsequently, we instituted controls for information asymmetry and risk pertaining to the impact of the firm's assets on Tobin's Q.

Additionally, following the majority of prior research, we accounted for the effect of leverage on Tobin's Q. A significant proportion of preceding studies (Bertinetti et al., 2013; Farrell & Gallagher, 2015; Hoyt & Liebenberg, 2003, 2011; Lechner & Gatzert, 2018) rely on the ratio of the book value of liabilities to the book value of shareholder's equity as a means of computing leverage, a methodology we found to be well suited. We posit that the debt-to-equity ratio bears relevance to both ERM and firm value, given that it appraises the firm's financing strategy in terms of the balance between debt and equity – an important consideration since ERM is fundamentally concerned with risk management and value creation.

Moreover, we integrated dividends, ROA, and liquidity as control variables to account for any potential ramifications associated with cash generation and distribution on Tobin's Q. The variable for dividends takes binary form assuming a value of 1 of the company distributed dividends during the fiscal year, and 0 otherwise. ROA is incorporated as a metric of firm profitability, computed as the ratio of annual net income to total assets, consistent with methodologies employed in previous studies (Bertinetti et al., 2013; Hoyt & Liebenberg, 2011; Lechner & Gatzert, 2018).

While liquidity is not a frequently encountered variable in prior literature, we still regard it as a potentially important factor. Drawing on insights from Anton and Nucu's (2020) and Lechner & Gatzerts' (2018) studies, it can be inferred that firms with enhanced liquidity possess expanded avenues to embark on profitable investment endeavors. We computed this variable as the ratio of cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments to current liabilities.

Earlier studies tend to embed variables such as diversification and auditor type within their analysis. In contrast to our approach, an array of studies (M. S. Beasley et al., 2005; Gatzert & Martin, 2015; Hoyt & Liebenberg, 2011; Lechner & Gatzert, 2018) incorporate a variable indicative of the firm's operation across

multiple industries. Given that out sample is confined to companies operating within the same industry, we did not perceive this inclusion as relevant. Pertaining to international diversification, it is operationalized as a binary variable, assuming the value 1 if the company engages in operations in international markets beyond their base country, and 0 otherwise. In addition, the variable of auditor type is mentioned in, for instance, Anton & Nucu (2020), Beasley (2005), and Lechner & Gatzert (2018) studies. Following this body of research, we have integrated a binary variable that takes the value 1 if the firm's audit is conducted by one of the Big Four auditing companies (KPMG, EY, Deloitte, and PWC), and 0 otherwise.

Our final two variables, growth opportunities and sales growth, show significant variation in their application in prior literature. Notably, growth opportunities are prevalently employed and are customarily estimated using the average market-tobook ratio (Bertinetti et al., 2013; Gatzert & Martin, 2015; Hoyt & Liebenberg, 2003; Pagach & Warr, 2011). We, however, have elected to calculate it through the ratio of capital expenditure (CapEx) to total revenue. This methodology is congruent with the original conceptualization of Hoyt & Liebenberg (2011), albeit they employed the sales growth ratio due to the unavailability of CapEx data for multiple years within their sample. Considering the capital-intensive nature of the oil and gas sector, evaluating the returns generated by companies' CapEx on an annual basis offers a more discerning lens through which to assess growth opportunities. Diverging from the majority of relevant research, we have included sales growth as an independent variable. Our goal was to account for the ramifications of changes in annual revenues on Tobin's Q, thus aiming for a departure from previous literature where it is generally contained within the growth opportunities variable. There exists a plausible conjecture that an increase in annual sales would increase firm value. As such, our aim was to control for the influence of this variable. The ratio is computed by deducting the sales of the preceding year from the current total sales, followed by dividing the outcome by the total sales of the preceding year.

8. Model Specification

This section outlines and discusses specification of the econometric models utilized in our investigation. The model is designed to furnish a statistical embodiment of our research paradigm, thus facilitating our examination and interpretation of the empirical correlations between our variables of interest. Additionally, we carry out an evaluation of the model's validity.

8.1 Unbalanced panel data

Panel data, sometimes referred to as longitudinal data, provide observations on multiple phenomena observed over multiple time periods for the same firms or individuals (Baltagi & Song, 2006). Panel data models are beneficial as they enable the control for variables that fluctuate over time and are not directly observable or quantifiable, referred to as fixed effects.

Our research incorporates unbalanced panel data in which the count of observations is not uniform across cross-sectional units, or, in our context, companies. This discrepancy can materialize due to diverse causes. For example, certain companies may be included into our dataset midway through the span of interest, or others might depart prior to its conclusion, resulting in dissimilar temporal spans for different companies (Baltagi & Song, 2006). Moreover, the absence of data for particular companies or years can also contribute to the unbalanced nature of panel data. Our dataset encompasses data from 113 firms spanning 2010 to 2020, configured as an unbalanced panel due to instances of absent data throughout the sample duration. For instance, Petronor E&P ASA displays absent values for 2011 and 2012, Borr Drilling's data is restricted to three years, and Block Energy Plc's data is documented solely for 2019 and 2020.

While unbalanced panel data may introduce analytical challenges such as potential bias or inconsistency in estimation, modern econometric techniques have been developed to handle these efficiently. The key benefit of using an unbalanced data panel is that it avoids the loss of valuable information if we were to exclude companies with incomplete data, thus optimizing our sample size and enhancing the reliability of our results (Baltagi & Song, 2006).

8.2 Model selection

Choosing the correct model for our panel data is imperative to guarantee accurate and insightful results. Several models are conventionally deployed for panel data, including the Seemingly Unrelated Regression (SUR) framework, pooled Ordinary Least Squares (OLS), random effects model, and fixed effects model.

8.2.1 SUR Framework

The Seemingly Unrelated Regression (SUR) framework is generally employed when numerous equations with disparate dependent variables are interconnected across the same equations through the incorporation of one or more explanatory variables (Moon & Perron, 2006). A prerequisite for the functioning of this model is that the count of time-series observations for each cross-sectional entity must be at least the number of said entities. In our situation, this is unattainable as the quantity of cross-sectional units (companies) surpasses our time-series observations (years).

8.2.3 Pooled OLS

The pooled OLS model is amongst the most elementary models to estimate and explain. It processes the data as a basic cross section, amalgamating all observations and disregarding the panel structure of the data (Collischon & Eberl, 2020). Furthermore, it postulates homogeneity across all cross-sectional units, implying that all companies exhibit the same level of variance in their error terms. Conversely, if the variance in the error terms differs across companies, heteroskedasticity is evident (Olvera Astivia & Zumbo, 2019). The main advantage of the pooled OLS is its straightforwardness and simplicity. It computes a single equation for the entire dataset by assembling the dependent variables into one column. Likewise, the regressors for each independent variable are consolidated into a single column. Consequently, it entails fewer assumptions compared to more intricate models, making it a clear and intuitive method of analysis.

Nonetheless, the pooled OLS possesses considerable drawbacks. The model neglects heteroskedasticity and fails to accommodate the distinct time-invariant traits of each cross-sectional entity in the panel data (Collischon & Eberl, 2020; Hsiao, 2007). In our context, it does not factor in the distinct attributes of each company that may affect the relationship among the variables. Moreover, due to the pooled OLS not accounting for the unobserved company-specific characteristics in our sample, it may culminate in the miscalculation of thee coefficient, term as omitted variable bias (Wilms et al., 2021). Accordingly, despite its simplicity, the pooled OLS may not be appropriate for our research due to its inability to account for heteroskedasticity and the potential for omitted variable bias.

8.2.4 Fixed effects model

The fixed effect model is one of the most prevalently used models for panel data analysis. An important attribute of the model is its allowance for correlation between the entity-specific or time-specific effects and explanatory variables (Hsiao, 2007). In essence, each cross-sectional unit in the panel displays distinct characteristics that could affect the explanatory variables.

A notable advantage of the fixed effects model is its proficiency in controlling for time-invariant attributes of each variable (Hsiao, 2007). For instance, every company in the sample inherently possesses certain attributes correlated with size, leverage, and growth opportunities, that remain relatively static over time but may differ among various companies. The fixed effects model deletes the impact of these time-invariant attributes, thus facilitating a more precise analysis of the influence of variables of interest.

However, the fixed effects model does have some limitations. Since it controls for time-invariant characteristics, it cannot provide estimates of the effects of the time-invariant variables. In other words, it does not consider any variable that does not change over time.

8.2.5 Random Effects model

The random effects model constitutes another extensively used methodology for explaining panel data. It accounts for individual diversity by positing that each cross-sectional entity (company) in the panel bears its unique effect, indicating that variations among companies are stochastic and unassociated with the independent variables in the model (Borenstein et al., 2010).

Contrary to the fixed effects model, the random effects model regards individual effects as stochastic variables, assuming the effects are drawn from a larger population and are unrelated to the explanatory variables. A principal characteristic of the random effects model is its capacity to estimate the influence of time-invariant variables as explanatory variables, which the fixed effects model is unable to achieve due to its elimination of individual effects (Hsiao, 2007).

Nonetheless, the main disadvantage of the random effects model is the assumption that the individual effects are uncorrelated with the explanatory variables. If this assumption is breached, it can culminate in biased and inconsistent estimates (Hsiao, 2007). Given that unobserved individual-specific effects could intuitively be related to explanatory variables in economic and business studies, this presumption can often be problematic.

8.3 Model specification test

It is a conventional practice to execute various model specification tests to determine which panel data to employ. However, given our data's characteristics, we can effortlessly rule out some models based on theory. For example, the SUR framework can be disregarded due to a better alternative since our sample's companies outnumber the number of years. Likewise, pooled OLS can also be eliminated as it fails to accommodate heteroskedasticity, a typical attribute present in panel data (Stock & Watson, 2020), which we elaborate on in the validity section. In sum, our arguments narrow the choice down to either the fixed or the random effects model.

To decide which of the two models to employ, we conducted a Hausman test, in line with prior panel data literature. The test operates on the following basis: it presumes that individual effects are uncorrelated with the independent variables. If this null hypothesis is true, then both fixed and random effects estimators would be consistent. However, the random effects would be more efficient due to its ability to exploit both within and between variation in the dataset (Ahn & Low, 1996).

On the other hand, the alternative hypothesis assumes that the individual effects are correlated with the independent variables. In this scenario, the random effects estimator would be inconsistent, whereas the fixed effects estimator would yield consistent estimates. By comparing both estimates, the Hausman test can statistically determine whether the difference between the two sets of estimates is systematic (corresponding to the alternative hypothesis) or due to sampling variability (corresponding to the null hypothesis).

The Hausman test shows a statistically significant result (p-value: 0.0), leading us to reject the null hypothesis. In sum, this result indicates that the individual effects are correlated with the explanatory variables, suggesting that the fixed effects model is the appropriate choice of our data.

8.4 Model Building

In this section we present the two fixed effects models employed in our study and their specification. While we chose to only use one of the models in discussing the results in section 10, it is important to present both to, on one hand, ensure transparency, and on the other, to ensure grounds for comparability in terms of results.

8.4.1 Firm fixed effects vs country fixed effects

Our choice to use two distinct models, one controlling for firm fixed effects (Model 1) and another controlling for country fixed effects (Model 2), results from the nature of how ERM observations were assigned during our data collection. During this process we decided that, if ERM was identified for a given year, then we assigned ERM = 1 for all the remaining years, reasoned by the assumption that the costly and complex nature of ERM constitutes a long-term commitment which cannot easily be discarded after implementation.

Furthermore, and most importantly, this assignment method facilitates two distinct effect interpretations of ERM on firm value. First, model 1 measures the change in firm value when a company initiates ERM activities. In other words, the model aims to capture the value of adopting ERM in a company by controlling for time-invariant firm specific effects, such as organizational culture, that do not change over time but can differ between companies. Accordingly, the model uses each company as its own control before and after the change in ERM status, where the ERM coefficient estimates the average change in Tobin's Q when a company goes from not having ERM to having ERM, controlling for other variables. Second, model 2, independent of when ERM was initiated, measures the effect merely of having ERM on firm value by controlling for time-invariant country-specific effects such as regulatory environment, culture, or the specific nature of a country's economy. Hence, model 2 seeks to capture the firm value effect of ERM irrespective of when the corresponding activities were initiated.

The use of these two models thus broadens our analysis to consider different aspects of the influence of ERM on firm value, enriching the study as well as making it more robust.

8.4.2 Model specification for firm fixed effects

 $\begin{aligned} Tobin'sQ_{it} &= \beta_0 + \beta_1 ERM_{it} + \beta_2 Size_{it} + \beta_3 Liquidity_{it} + \beta_4 ROA_{it} + \beta_5 Dividend_{it} \\ &+ \beta_6 Leverage_{it} + \beta_7 Growthopp_{\cdot it} + \beta_8 Divint_{\cdot it} + \beta_9 Bigfour_{it} \\ &+ \beta_{10} Assetopacity_{it} + \beta_{11} Salesgrowth_{it} + \gamma_i + \delta_t + \varepsilon_{it} \end{aligned}$

In this model:

* " γ " refers to the firm specific effects, capturing unobserved time-invariant characteristics of firm i.

* " δ " refers to the time fixed effects, taking into account unobserved factors that vary over time but not between companies (constant across companies)

* " ε " refers to the error term for company i at time t.

8.4.3 Model specification with country fixed effects

$$\begin{split} Tobin'sQ_{it} &= \beta_0 + \beta_1 ERM_{it} + \beta_2 Size_{it} + \beta_3 Liquidity_{it} + \beta_4 ROA_{it} + \beta_5 Dividend_{it} \\ &+ \beta_6 Leverage_{it} + \beta_7 Growthopp_{\cdot it} + \beta_8 Divint_{\cdot it} + \beta_9 Bigfour_{it} \\ &+ \beta_{10} Assetopacity_{it} + \beta_{11} Salesgrowth_{it} + \alpha_c + \delta_t + \varepsilon_{it} \end{split}$$

In this model:

* " α " refers to the country-specific fixed effects, capturing unobserved timeinvariant characteristics of country c.

8.5 Validity

After determining the model to be used, it is important to evaluate the model's validity. Essentially, model validity refers to the capacity of the model to accurately represent the relationships it is designed to estimate (Roberts & Bilderback, 1980). In the context of our research, this entails verifying whether the assumptions inherent in the fixed effects model hold for our dataset. Subsequent sections delve into these assumptions to validate our conclusions.

8.5.1 Addressing selection bias

Selection bias pertains to the skewness that arises when the sample is not drawn randomly, thus failing to accurately represent the target population (Mummolo & Peterson, 2018). This may arise due to non-random attrition, for example, if companies exit the sample due to bankruptcy, or if they enter the sample at varying times.

It is vital to ensure that the process of choosing the sample does not systematically exclude certain observations based on the value of the dependent or independent variables. In our study, we have tried to alleviate the potential for selection bias through random sampling. According to the fixed effects model's assumption, variables are distributed evenly and independently across units, thus meeting the criteria essential for mitigating selection bias. It is noteworthy that complete elimination of selection bias is not achievable. However, by maintaining transparency regarding the process through which our sample was selected, we aim to increase confidence in the findings.

8.5.2 Addressing omitted variable bias

Omitted variable bias refers to the distortion that arises when significant variables are excluded from the regression model (Wilms et al., 2021). This exclusion violates a core assumption in regression analysis, which asserts that the error term must be uncorrelated with the independent variables. If an omitted variable is both correlated with independent variables and influences the dependent variable, this can inject bias in the estimates of the regression coefficient, leading to erroneous conclusions and results.

It is crucial to acknowledge that the fixed effects model is unable to control for unobserved factors that vary over time. This limitation underscores the significance of thorough model specification, which encompasses the careful selection and inclusion of pertinent independent variables grounded in economic theories and empirical evidence from prior studies. In our study, we have incorporated variables that have been employed in established research in this domain. Consequently, there is no reason for us to infer that our model is compromised by omitted variable bias.

However, despite basing our selection of independent variables on prior studies, the possibility of omitted variable bias persists. First, it is essential to recognize that no research can capture all conceivable determinants of a dependent variable. Certain factors may be inherently unobservable or challenging to quantify, albeit theoretically relevant. Secondly, variables deemed significant in earlier research may not encompass all the elements that are vital in our specific context. It is important to note that our research is centered on the oil and gas market, which has historically been under-examined, especially the upstream segment.

We acknowledge that, akin to any empirical research, our study is likely to be influenced by omitted variable bias. While we are confident that our model is adequately specified, we interpret our findings with the understanding that there may be unaccounted-for factors influencing the relationship between ERM and firm value.

8.5.3 Addressing multicollinearity

In multiple regression analysis, multicollinearity is the phenomenon where two or more independent variables are highly correlated with each other. This correlation makes it challenging to isolate the individual effects of these variables on the dependent variable, consequently leading to unreliable and untrustworthy estimates (Shrestha, 2020). Moreover, multicollinearity enhances the variance of the coefficient estimates, which could result in these estimates being volatile and statistically insignificant, despite being economically significant, i.e., the estimated coefficient shows a meaningful effect on the dependent variable.

In our study, we explain the relationship between ERM and firm value, considering variables such as size, leverage, international diversification. This makes it imperative to examine multicollinearity. For example, firm size and leverage could be correlated since larger firms might possess more assets that can be used as collateral for debt, thus potentially having higher leverage. Additionally, larger firms may be more inclined to diversify their operations internationally by leveraging their more extensive asset base.

To investigate the relationship among our independent and dependent variables, we have employed a correlation matrix in our study. As outlined in section 9, the correlation matrix reveals that the highest pair-wise correlation is 0.6. This value is substantially below the commonly accepted threshold of 0.8 (Bashatweh & Ahmed, 2021), which suggests that significant multicollinearity is not present within our dataset. Although the Variance Inflation Estimator (VIF) test is typically used to assess multicollinearity issues, it is not applicable for our specific regression model. As such, we posit that the correlation matric offers an adequate approximation.

It is worth noting that, while multicollinearity can yield unreliable estimates, some degree of correlation among variable is expected and can be beneficial in multivariate analysis (Kraha et al., 2012). However, alarm bells should ring in cases of perfect multicollinearity, where one or more of the variables are exactly correlated, making it impossible to produce reliable estimates. Imperfect multicollinearity could also be problematic, occurring when one or more variables are highly but not perfectly correlated. In such cases, the models R-squared value might be high, but the significance of the coefficient would be low.

Hence, it is vital to monitor multicollinearity during construction of a regression model by using tools such as the correlation matrix. Additionally, it is essential to interpret the results of these models with caution, especially when high multicollinearity is present.

8.5.4 Examining error terms in panel data: stationarity and serial correlation, and heteroskedasticity

When conducting a panel data analysis, paying close attention to the characteristics of error terms is important, as these attributes can affect the validity of the regression outcomes (Griliches & Hausman, 1986). Specifically, three principal properties warrant consideration: stationarity, serial and heteroskedasticity.

Stationarity, concerning error terms, implies that the properties remain constant over time, denoting a consistent means and variance (Griliches & Hausman, 1986). Non-stationary errors could invalidate standard statistical inferences and give rise to potentially deceptive results. In our model, we assume the idiosyncratic errors to be stationary, a common assumption in fixed effects model (Kapetanios et al., 2011).

Serial correlation, or auto correlation, is a scenario in which the error term in one period correlates with the error term in a different period (Bhargava et al., 1982; Wursten, 2018). The existence of serial correlation can culminate in inefficient and inconsistent estimators, making standard hypothesis tests untrustworthy.

Additionally, heteroskedasticity is a vital consideration for the validity of a study. It denotes a situation in regression analysis where the variation of error terms, or residuals, is not consistent across various levels of independent variables (Olvera Astivia & Zumbo, 2019). The Ordinary Least Squares (OLS) estimation, frequently used in fixed effects models, presumes homoskedasticity, meaning a constant variance of error terms. Should this assumption be violated, the OLS estimates will continue to be unbiased but will lose efficiency, meaning they will not have the smallest conceivable standard errors. The inefficiency can potentially lead to untrustworthy hypothesis tests and confidence intervals (Olvera Astivia & Zumbo, 2019).

Our model, termed the high definition regression model with fixed effects, accounts for both serial correlation and heteroskedasticity through the inclusion of clustered standard errors on firm level (stata code: vce(cluster company_id). In fact, they are valid whether heteroskedasticity is present, serial correlation is present, or both. Specifically, while clustering the standard errors on firm level allows the regression to have correlations within a cluster (a specific company), the regression errors across clusters (companies) are assumed to be uncorrelated. Hence, our model's clustered standard errors allow for heteroskedasticity and serial correlation without invalidating the second fixed effects assumption, which states that the variable observations are independent and identical draws from a joint distribution (Stock & Watson, 2020, pp. 375–376).

8.5.5 Addressing measurement errors

Measurement error, which is the difference between the observed and the true value of a variable, is a notable challenge in regression analysis. This error can originate from various sources such as imprecisions in data collection, data processing, or the employment of flawed measurement instruments.

In the context of our study, measurement error could be particularly conspicuous due to the methodology employed for data collection. As elaborated on in section 7, we engaged in manual calculations of ratios for companies in the European sample. Additionally, we hand-verified whether a company had implemented ERM by carefully evaluating each company on an annual basis across the entire sample. However, we must concede that our assessment of ERM adoption might not be absolutely precise. As indicated by Kapstad from Equinor (personal communication, June 1, 2023), ascertaining if a company has instituted ERM is far from a binary "yes" or "no" question; the reality is substantially more nuanced. Furthermore, the manual calculation of financial ratios can be subject to errors, which could notably impact the results, especially for the companies in the European sample.

Given the backdrop, it is important to exercise caution when interpreting the results of our analysis, taking into consideration the potential influence of measurement error. This situation emphasizes the necessity for thorough validation processes, coupled with a systematic and impartial approach to data collection and processing. Moreover, it serves as a reminder of the importance of continuously refining and augmenting these processes to mitigate measurement error. Such efforts are crucial for increasing the reliability and validity of our findings.

In interpreting the results of our analysis, it is therefore important to consider the potential impact of measurement error. This underscores the need for rigorous validation processes, along with a consistent and unbiased approach to data collection and processing. It's also a reminder of the importance of refining and improving these processes to minimize the extent of measurement error, thereby enhancing the reliability and validity of our findings.

In sum, while the presence of selection bias and omitted variable bias can never be discarded in empirical research, we believe our study addresses these concerns sufficiently. Moreover, multicollinearity does not pose a threat to the validity of our study, which we provide further details on in section 9.2. While measurement errors in the data collection on European firms could exist, due to manually collecting observations, we ascertain that the process has been carried out diligently. Finally, given that our model allows for serial correlation and heteroskedasticity, the presence of these features will not disturb our analysis.

9. Data Analysis

In this section we delineate the descriptive statistics of our study to increase knowledge of the nature of our sample. We include customary statistics like the mean, standard deviation, range, median, quartile 1 and 3, after which we briefly comment on the key findings. Furthermore, we also provide a table comparing the variable means of companies with ERM and without (Table 2). The discussion of these findings is presented in section 10 together with the discussion of the econometric results. Finally, we also present the correlation matrix (Table 3) to address multicollinearity and examine interesting correlations between the variables employed in our study.

9.1 Descriptive statistics

9.1.1 Description of data

The statistics in Table 1 visualizes the summary statistics of the dependent variable firm value as proxied by Tobin's Q, the main independent variable ERM and the rest of the independent control variables. We have also included another descriptive statistic, Table 2, reflecting a difference-in-mean comparison between firms with ERM and firms without ERM. However, Table 2 is also placed in the results section as it intuitively makes sense to discuss the difference-in-means results with the regression results. Hence, we only choose to include a description of Table 2 in the data analysis section. Furthermore, the data is collected over an 11-year period from 2010 to 2020, largely of North American and European oil and gas companies engaged in the E&P of oil and gas. While most of the sample are companies directly engaged in either production or exploration, a small minority of the sample comprises companies that are engaged in the value chain of E&P, i.e., companies which provide services in the E&P process such as for instance drilling.

Variable	Obs	Mean	Std. dev.	Min	Max	Q1	Median	Q3
Tobinsq	957	1.3667	0.9394	0.1890	6.8997	0.8758	1.1131	1.5560
ERM	957	0.3406	0.0474	0.0000	1.0000	0.0000	0.0000	1.0000
Size	957	21.3330	2.4506	14.7779	26.7400	19.5563	21.5767	23.1000
Liquidity	957	2.4686	6.9463	0.0000	60.9130	0.2954	0.7911	1.8606
ROA	957	-0.0804	0.3127	-1.9952	0.35000	-0.1061	0.0000	0.0581
Dividend	957	0.5005	0.5003	0.0000	1.0000	0.0000	1.0000	1.0000
Leverage	957	1.2005	3.4955	-17.0598	18.9645	0.5066	1.0072	1.6019
Growth	957	0.6355	1.2731	0.0000	11.7828	0.1284	0.3141	0.6724
opp.								
Diversified	957	0.5517	0.4976	0.0000	1.0000	0.0000	1.0000	1.0000
int.								
BigFour	957	0.7607	0.4269	0.0000	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000
audit								
Asset	957	0.0599	0.1123	0.0000	0.7020	0.0000	0.0039	0.0670
opacity								
Salesgrowth	957	0.1501	0.8739	-0.8469	6.2843	-0.2364	0.0151	0.2293
-								

Table 1: Descriptive Statistics

9.1.2 Explanation of variable transformation

All tables visualize the statistics of all the winsorized variables at the 1% level, except for the variable for firm size and the indicator variables for ERM, Dividends, BigFour audit, and Diversified int. The reason for this is two-fold: first, "Size" already has undergone a log transformation, and second, it naturally makes little sense to winsorize indicator variables as they either take the value 0 or 1. Moreover, the motivation behind winsorizing variables is to remove the impact of extreme observations since the OLS estimator is sensitive to outliers, making the regression model less accurate (Stock & Watson, 2020, pp. 159, 225, 375). As such, these observations will influence the distributions of the mean, making it less representative of the average of the sample. Additionally, outliers can also significantly increase variability, which impairs the ability of the regression model to detect underlying patterns and relationships in the data, reducing the power of statistical tests. More specifically, a sharp increase in the standard deviation leads to a larger standard error of the mean, leading to a smaller t-statistic for the liquidity coefficient. A smaller t-statistic translates to a higher p-value, which entails less significant coefficient estimate results (Stock & Watson, 2020, p. 113). Accordingly, by winsorizing the data and thus reducing the impact of outliers, we increase the likelihood of finding significant effects if they

exist. A log transformation essentially provides the same outcome by pulling in the tails of the sample distribution, reducing a potential skewness, thus making it more normalized. In practice, the process of winsorization at the 1% level translates to a transformation of observations in the upper 99th percentile and lower 1st percentile to the largest and smallest value, respectively, that were not transformed when the winsorization at the 1% level was computed (Wilcox, 2017).

9.1.3 Observations and key findings from Table 1

The statistics in Table 1 provide a good overview of the general characteristics of the variables in our dataset. Our final sample consists of 113 companies and corresponding 957 observations for all variables, suggesting that the dataset does not suffer from missing values. The mean value of Tobin's Q, our proxy for firm value, is 1.3667. Moreover, there is substantial variation in firm value within our sample, as highlighted by the standard deviation of 0.9394 and a range from 0.1890 to 6.8967.

Concerning the key findings from Table 1, it is worthwhile to consider the mean value of our independent variable of interest, ERM. Since ERM is a dummy variable equal to 0 or 1, the mean thus provides an understanding of the proportion of companies that have implemented ERM within the sample. More specifically, the number 0.3406 indicates that 34.06% of the companies in our sample have implemented ERM during the period under observation (2010-2020). Applying the same process to the other dummy variables entails that 50% of the companies in our sample pay a dividend, 55.17% operate internationally, and 76.07% are audited by one of the big four accounting firms.

Moreover, the other control variables also exhibit interesting patterns. The mean Size, computed as the natural logarithm of total assets, is 21.33, and the observations range from the smallest company in the sample measured at 14.77 to the largest measured at 26.74. On average, the sample companies have a Liquidity ratio of 2.4686 which implies that, on average, the companies have about 2.46 times as much cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments as they have in current liabilities. This ratio reflects the volatile nature of the oil and gas industry and underscores the importance of having cash at hand in the event of something

unexpected. Interestingly, the average ROA is negative (-0.08%), which suggests that, on average, companies are not making a profit from their assets. While this could be a cause for concern for the industry, the relatively high standard deviation of 0.3127 reflects a substantial degree of variation between the companies, indicating that some companies are a lot more profitable than others. More specifically, the oil and gas industry is a significantly capital-intensive industry that creates huge entry barriers for competitors, effectively solidifying the position of incumbents. We can easily find support for this argument by reviewing the return on assets for some of the largest companies in our sample. For instance, Equinor and Shell plc recorded positive ROAs for almost every year during the sampling period.

The average leverage ratio in the sample is 1.2005, which suggests that, on average, companies have slightly more liabilities than shareholder's equity. The mean value of Growth opp. is 0.6355. Given that this ratio is computed as capital expenditure divided by revenue, it implies that firms are investing in growth opportunities. The average sales growth is 15%, which is positive, signaling that firms in the sample are, on average, growing.

All the variables exhibit considerable standard deviations, advocating for substantial variation across the sample. From a research perspective, variation is important for three reasons. First, if there is no variability in, for instance, Size, it would be impossible to identify any relationship between Size and firm value since there is no variation to explain. Second, with relatively higher variation, the chances of missing relationships that truly exist decrease. As such, statistical tests would be better equipped to detect an effect with higher variation in the sample. The third concerns generalizability of the results. While this could be an ambiguous interpretation, high variation could make the findings more generalizable. If, for instance, the sample comprises a broad range of firms, the results may apply to companies of different sizes, provided that all the firms are similar in other aspects such as industry and country of operations.

9.1.4 Table 2: Comparing firms with and without ERM

Based on the indicator variable for ERM, Table 2 splits the sample into two groups, thus providing grounds for comparing firms that have implemented ERM (sample 2) and those that have not (sample 1). The table presents the number of observations, the mean, and the standard deviation for both groups, and the last column on the right-hand side provides the t-statistic for the difference-in-means test between the two groups. While this table enhances the understanding of our dataset, taking into account our main variable of interest, ERM, it must be stressed that no causal interpretation can be made. One should instead perceive it as a check of the relationship between ERM and the other variables. We use Table 2 in companionship with the econometric results in section 10 to discuss the implications of our study's findings.

Variables	Obs sample 1	Mean sample	Std. dev. sample	Obs sample 2	Mean sample 2	Std. dev. Sample 2	T-statistics
Tobinsq	631	1.4380	1.046	326	1.228	0.666	3.251***
Size	631	20.560	2.370	326	22.827	1.837	-15.108***
Liquidity	631	3.137	8.404	326	1.103	1.477	4.401***
ROA	631	-0.099	0.360	326	-0.043	0.184	-2.626**
Dividend	631	0.381	0.486	326	0.730	0.444	-10.873***
Leverage	631	1.226	3.735	326	1.351	2.976	-0.850*
Growth	631	0.724	1.511	326	0.464	0.543	3.007***
opp.							
Diversified	631	0.462	0.499	326	0.723	0.447	-8.015***
int.							
BigFour	631	0.697	0.459	326	0.883	0.321	-6.530***
audit							
Asset	631	0.057	0.116	326	0.065	0.102	-1.017**
opacity							
Salesgrowth	631	0.208	1.109	326	0.036	0.496	3.0556***
2							

Note: ***. **, * denote 1%, 5% and 10% significance level respectively. N refers to the number of firms. Obs refers to the number of observations. Standard errors in parenthesis

Table 2: Difference-in-means comparison

9.2 Correlation matrix

This section presents and interprets the correlation matrix for all the variables in our study. The reason for its inclusion is, on one hand, to obtain insights into the pairwise relationships between these variables and, on the other, to perform a check for multicollinearity. The latter refers to a situation in which one of the variables is highly correlated with others, thus forming a close linear combination that could result in an inexact estimation of one or more of the regression coefficients (Stock & Watson, 2020, p. 228).

	Tobinsq	ERM	Size	Liquidity	ROA	Dividend	Leverage	Growth opp.	Diversified int.	Bigfour	Asset opacity	Salesgro wth
Tobinsq	1											
ERM	-10.45*	1										
Size	-0.183*	0.439*	1									
Liquidity	0.079*	-0.141*	-0.347*	1								
ROA	-0.034	0.085*	0.235*	-0.047	1							
Dividend	0.124*	0.331*	0.487*	-0.044	0.222*	1						
Leverage	-0.023	0.0275	0.009	-0.101*	-0.011	-0.040	1					
Growth opp.	0.158*	-0.097*	-0.169*	0.090*	-0.095*	-0.149*	-0.017	1				
Diversified int.	-0.130*	0.251*	0.338*	-0.092*	0.079*	0.166*	0.023	-0.167*	1			
Bigfour audit	-0.212	0.207*	0.601*	-0.266*	0.157*	0.307*	-0.040	-0.200*	0.386*	1		
Asset opacity	0.021	0.033	0.049	-0.100*	0.045	-0.0002	0.043	-0.102*	0.156*	0.182*	1	
Salesgrowth	0.075*	-0.098*	-0.097*	-0.031	0.105*	-0.116*	-0.038	0.080*	-0.067*	-0.088*	0.056	1
				Note: * a	lenotes 5%	% signific:	ance level					

Table 3: Correlation matrix

9.2.1 Discussion of correlations with ERM – our independent variable of interest

Considering the main variable of interest, ERM, we observe interesting patterns. ERM has a positive and statistically significant correlation with Size (0.4387*), ROA (0.085*), Dividend (0.331*), Diversified int. (0.251*), and BigFour audit (0.207*). These relationships intuitively make sense since larger and better performing firms, as indicated by ROA, firms paying dividends, those operating internationally, and those audited by the big four are more likely to have the resources to adopt and benefit from ERM. Furthermore, ERM has a negative and statistically significant correlation with Tobin's Q (-0.105*), Liquidity (-0.141*), Growth opp. (-0.097*), and Salesgrowth (-0.098*), indicating that companies with ERM tend to exhibit lower firm value, lower liquidity, lesser growth opportunities and lesser sales growth. There could be many explanations as to why this is the case. For example, one possible argument could be that ERM's portfolio risk management enables companies to opt for safer investment opportunities with lower returns, which may result in a lower Tobin's Q. Another one could be that sophisticated ERM systems require substantial resources and maintenance, which may decrease liquidity in the short term. Effective portfolio risk management may also facilitate more efficient use of the company's liquidity in the long term.

9.2.2 Multicollinearity check

While it is customary to check for multicollinearity in multiple regression using the so-called VIF (Variance Inflation Estimator), our type of regression model does not support its use, something we discussed in section 8. However, using the correlation matrix to identify pairwise correlations between variables can also adequately assess whether multicollinearity is present (Shrestha, 2020). Although perfect multicollinearity refers to a situation in which one of the regressors is a perfect linear function of the other regressors (100% correlation) and thus prevents estimation of the regression, imperfect multicollinearity refers to a situation of very high correlation that does not prevent regression estimation but could lead to imprecise estimations (Stock & Watson, 2020, p. 228). Moreover, the general threshold for pairwise correlation between variables that potentially may constitute issues with multicollinearity is 0.8 (Bashatweh & Ahmed, 2021).

Examining the matrix, the most substantial correlation among the variables is between Size and BigFour audit (0.601*), suggesting that larger firms are more likely to be audited by one of the big four accounting firms. This is clearly below the generally accepted threshold (0.8), which indicates that multicollinearity is not a significant issue in our regression analysis. Additionally, there are only two more pairwise correlations above 0.4, as showcased by the correlation between Size and ERM (0.439*) and Size and Dividend (0.487*), which further strengthens the argument against the presence of multicollinearity.

9.3.3 Other interesting correlations

The relatively high and statistically significant correlation between Size and Dividend (0.4871*) suggests that larger firms are more likely to pay dividends. Size also shows a significant negative correlation with Liquidity, implying that larger firms have lower liquidity. Interestingly, positive, and statistically significant correlation exists between Tobin's Q and Dividend, suggesting that firms that pay dividends may exhibit higher firm values.

10. Results and Discussion

In this section, we present the econometric results of both models (Table 4) accompanied by a difference-in-means comparison between firms with and without ERM (Table2).

Variables	Obs sample 1	Mean sample	Std. dev. sample	Obs sample 2	Mean sample 2	Std. dev. Sample 2	T-statistics
Tobinsq	631	1.4380	1.046	326	1.228	0.666	3.251***
Size	631	20.560	2.370	326	22.827	1.837	-15.108***
Liquidity	631	3.137	8.404	326	1.103	1.477	4.401***
ROA	631	-0.099	0.360	326	-0.043	0.184	-2.626**
Dividend	631	0.381	0.486	326	0.730	0.444	-10.873***
Leverage	631	1.226	3.735	326	1.351	2.976	-0.850*
Growth	631	0.724	1.511	326	0.464	0.543	3.007***
opp. Diversified	621	0.462	0.400	326	0.723	0.447	Q 015***
int	031	0.402	0.499	520	0.725	0.447	-8.015
BigFour audit	631	0.697	0.459	326	0.883	0.321	-6.530***
Asset opacity	631	0.057	0.116	326	0.065	0.102	-1.017**
Salesgrowth	631	0.208	1.109	326	0.036	0.496	3.0556***

Note: ***. **, * denote 1%, 5% and 10% significance level respectively. N refers to the number of firms. Obs refers to the number of observations. Standard errors in parenthesis

Table 2: Difference-in-means comparison

Variable	Model 1: Firm specific fixed effects	Model 2: Country specific fixed effects
ERM	0.395 (0.122)***	-0.067 (0.091)
Size	-0.271 (0.092)***	-0.032 (0.026)
Liquitidy	0.035 (0.012)	0.08 (0.011)
ROA	-3.04 (0.171)*	-0.347 (0.167)**
Dividend	0.110 (0.09)	0.367 (0.116)***
Leverage	0.002 (0.006)	0.001 (0.007)
Growth opp.	0.011 (0.04)	0.109 (0.039)***
Diversified int.	0.519 (0.157)***	0.028 (0.091)
BigFour audit	-0.188 (0.109)*	-0.219 (0.134)
Asset opacity	0.588 (0.366)	0.201 (0.499)
Sales growth	0.093 (0.023)***	0.102 (0.031)***
R-squared	0.7506	0.5118
Adjusted R-squared	0.7111	0.4938
N	110	113
Obs	954	957

Note: ***. **, * denote 1%, 5% and 10% significance level respectively. N refers to the number of firms. Obs refers to the number of observations. Standard errors in parenthesis

Table 4: Regression results Model 1 & Model 2

10.1 Model 1: firm-specific fixed effects

We recall that model 1 is a panel data model with firm specific fixed effects, time fixed effects, and one-way clustered standard errors on firm level. These features ensure that our model captures both firm-specific and year-specific effects that are constant over time and provides robust standard errors, ascertaining model validity in terms of heteroskedasticity and serial correlation. We also recall that model 1 measures the change effect of ERM on firm value, i.e., the ERM effect on firm value, by changing the ERM status from 0 to 1.

While the results indicate that four variable coefficients are statistically insignificant, two coefficients are significant at the 10% level and five are highly significant at the 1% level.

The main variable of interest, ERM, is highly statistically significant (p-value: 0.002) and is estimated to have a positive coefficient of 0.395, suggesting an economically significant effect. Economic significance translates to whether the coefficient estimate is relatively large and thus has a meaningful impact on the dependent variable. Given that the mean Tobin's Q for the entire sample is 1.3667 (see Table 1) and the ERM coefficient is 0.395 (29% of 1.3667), the ERM coefficient is economically significant. In other words, the model estimates that the ERM effect on firm value is 0.395 when the firm goes from not having ERM, to having ERM.

Other highly significant coefficients correspond to the variable for Size, Liquidity, Diversified int., and Salesgrowth. Specifically, the Size coefficient has a p-value of 0.004 and is estimated to impact Tobin's Q by -0.271 for a unit increase in Size. The Liquidity coefficient has a p-value of 0.007 and is estimated to impact Tobin' Q by 0.035 for a unit increase in Liquidity. Surprisingly, the coefficient for ROA has a negative effect (-0.3) on Tobin's Q, but the result is only significant at the 10% level. Furthermore, another surprising result is that neither Leverage, nor Growth opp. are estimated to have statistically significant effects on Tobin's Q. On the contrary, Salesgrowth has the most statistically significant coefficient with a p-value of 0.0 and is estimated to impact Tobin's Q with 0.09 for a unit increase in Salesgrowth.

10.2 Model 2: country-specific fixed effects

The regression results from Model 2, which includes country-specific fixed effects and one-way clustered standard errors on firm level, exhibit notable differences from Model 1. As explained in section 8, this model aims to measure the effect of ERM on firm value by controlling for different sets of time-invariant countryspecific effects. Hence, it seeks to capture the firm value effect of ERM, irrespective of when the related activities were initiated.

Contrary to Model 1, the results of Model 2 indicate that the ERM coefficient is neither statistically, nor economically significant. In fact, the coefficient is estimated to be -0.067, entailing that implementing ERM would potentially only reduce firm value by 0,067. Moreover, the estimated effect is negative, in stark contrast to model 1.

Out of the eleven variables, model 2 estimated statistically significant effects on Tobin's Q for only four variables; Dividend, Growth opp., Salesgrowth, and ROA. The first three are positively significant at the 1% level, while return on assets has a statistically significant inverse association with Tobin's Q, at the 5% level.

It is also worth noting that the coefficient sizes in this model vary substantially, implying varying degrees of impact on Tobin's Q. Furthermore, not all variables are statistically significant in the model, which is to be expected as not all factors can exert significant influence at the country level.

10.3 Model selection

When choosing which model to employ in our analysis, there are three aspects to consider. First, concerning the significance and impact of the ERM variable. While model 1 estimates a highly significant result for the ERM coefficient, model 2 estimates an effect that is not significant on any level. Additionally, there is a considerable discrepancy between estimated effects, in which model 1 estimated a substantial positive effect of ERM on Tobin's Q and model 2 estimated a relatively low negative effect. Furthermore, contrary to model 2, model 1 provided a coefficient estimate for the ERM variable that was both

statistically and economically significant. Considering the corresponding tstatistics, which translates into a p-value in model 1 at 0.002 and a p-value in model 2 at 0.461, there is little doubt that model 1 is the better fit.

Second, while model 2 only estimates four statistically significant coefficients, model 1 estimates seven, out of which five are significant at the 1% level. This suggests that model 1 delivers more significant results and thus facilitates more robust inference.

Third, the R-squared for Model 1 is 0.7506, indicating that 75.06% of the variation in Tobin's Q is explained by the variation in the independent variables. On the contrary, the variation in the independent variables in Model 2 only explains 51.18%. Accordingly, Model 1 thus has a better explaining ability, enhancing the ability to detect relationships if they exist.

In sum, model 1 is the preferred model, allowing us to discuss the ERM effect on Tobin's Q when companies change their ERM status, i.e., choose to implement an ERM system.

10.4 Discussion of results

In examining the impact of various factors on firm value, as measured by Tobin's Q, our firm-specific fixed effects model showed several notable findings. Three elements – ERM, Diversified int., and Salesgrowth – significantly increased firm value, while other factors like Size, ROA, and BigFour audit appeared to decrease firm value.

In our regression model, the variable of interest, ERM emerged with a positive and statistically significant coefficient (0.395), providing an empirical indication that the adoption of ERM does enhance firm value. Since our model measures the change effect, a positive ERM coefficient entails that a firm transitioning from not having ERM (ERM=0), to adopting ERM, is associated with an increase in firm value of 0.395, which aligns with our expectations. This relationship was, however, not consistent with Table 2, which divides the sample into two groups, facilitating a difference-of-means comparison between firms that had ERM (ERM=1) and firms that did not (ERM=0). Specifically, Table 2 displays that firms that implemented ERM tend to be associated with lower firm value and that this difference in the mean value of Tobin's Q is statistically significant at the 1% level. However, we underscore that this observation cannot be interpreted causally, suggesting that there may be several explanations for the discrepancy between the results of Table 2 and Table 4. One explanation could be that resources spent on implementing and maintaining ERM systems could have been used for other profit-generating opportunities that the market perceived as a suboptimal allocation of resources. However, given that our econometric model estimated a highly statistically significant ERM coefficient with corresponding economic significance, this seems unlikely.

Alongside ERM, Diversified int. (0.519), Salesgrowth (0.093), and Liquidity (0.035) were similarly significant (1% level) and positively related to Tobin's Q, reinforcing their perceived benefits for the firm's value. The findings on Diversified int. in Table 2 also postulated that firms with ERM showed a higher mean value (0.7239) than those without ERM (0.4628). Implicitly, this suggests that firms with more sophisticated risk management practices tend to have more internationally diversified operations, which could stem from the fact that ERM encourages a broader perspective of risk, including those arising from concentrated geographic locations, as stated by Lin (2011) and Farrell & Gallagher (2015). This in line with the ERM philosophy, firms may diversify their operations across different regions to mitigate this risk.

Looking at the correlation matrix, we observe a statistically negative correlation between Salesgrowth and ERM (-0.0982). This suggests that firms with ERM tend to have lower sales growth, aligning with the difference-in-means comparison in Table 2. However, Salesgrowth seems to increase Tobin's Q. As firms with ERM tend to have lower sales growth, it could be inferred that firms with a comprehensive risk management framework might exhibit slower sales growth due to more cautious business strategies (P. Kapstad, personal communication, June 1, 2023), which raises questions about the trade-off between risk management and growth. Regarding Liquidity, our findings may seem counterintuitive. Although it shows a statistically significant and positive impact, albeit not economically significant, on Tobin's Q, Table 2 reveals that firms without ERM have a higher liquidity mean (3.174) than those with ERM (1.104). This can be explained by the plausible argument that firms with ERM could be
more likely to focus on long-term financial stability, which might involve retaining fewer liquid assets for strategic investments. Moreover, given the volatile and uncertain nature of the oil and gas industry, which may increase the need for liquidity in the event of something unexpected, ERM could be argued to moderate these needs by providing more efficiency in terms of, for instance, resource allocation, thus reducing the need for liquidity. Alternatively, it could be the case that highly liquid firms possess greater opportunities to undertake certain investments, such as implementing ERM, as discussed in the works of Anton & Nucu (2020) and Lechner & Gatzert (2018). As a result, they may experience reduced liquidity post-ERM implementation.

On the other hand, and contrary to our expectations, firm Size demonstrated a significant negative relationship with Tobin's Q with an economically significant coefficient of -0.271, which is consistent with Lechner & Gatzert, but contradictory to Aldoseri's (2022) and Kinyar's (2020) findings. However, Table 2 shows that firms with ERM are larger on average (22.83) than firms without ERM (20.56). One explanation could be that larger firms benefit from greater assets such as financial, technological, and human resources (Lechner & Gatzert, 2018). Additionally, it could suggest that relatively large firms are more inclined to implement ERM, potentially due to increased complexity and risk in their operations. We are, in other words talking about the concept of endogeneity, i.e., that firms do not randomly adopt ERM, which is one of the main weaknesses of ERM studies. As such, although our model estimated a negative effect, one could still argue that there is a positive relationship between size and firm value since size seems to moderate whether ERM should be implemented, and ERM has a strong statistically and economically significant effect on firm value. The relatively large statistically significant correlation between Size and ERM in Table 3 (0.4387^*) supports this argument. This aligns with the statements of Petter Kapstad, who explained that, since ERM is a considerable investment, larger firms are typically better positioned financially to adopt.

Furthermore, ROA exhibits a negative, economically significant impact on Tobin's Q (-0.304). However, this result is only significant at the 10% level, which is also contrary to our expectations, as well as to previous literature (Aldoseri, 2022; Bertinetti et al., 2013; Lechner & Gatzert, 2018). This result suggests that the value of upstream oil and gas sector firms in our sample might not primarily depend on their short-term profitability, as measured by ROA. The mean value of ROA for the entire sample is -0.0804, providing support for this argument. It could be argued that the firm values of these firms are influenced by other factors such as long-term growth prospects, risk management practices, and industry-specific dynamics (P. Kapstad, personal communication, June 1, 2023). For instance, upstream firms often require significant capital investments and face high risks, which may overshadow short-term profitability's influence on their valuation. Furthermore, while the mean value of ROA is negative for both firms with ERM (-0.0493) and without ERM (-0.099) (see Table 2), it is substantially higher for firms with ERM. The corresponding t-statistic of -2.6 advocates for a statistically significant difference at the 1% level between the two groups, indicating that ERM companies are more efficient and profitable, aligning with previous studies (Aldoseri, 2022; Hoyt & Liebenberg, 2011; M. McShane, 2018).

Another finding that contradicts our expectations concerns the BigFour audit variable. Model 1 displays that this variable negatively influences Tobin's Q, with a coefficient of -0.188, statistically significant at the 10% level. However, not surprisingly, and in accordance with previous literature (M. S. Beasley et al., 2005; Gatzert & Martin, 2015; Lechner & Gatzert, 2018), our findings from Table 2 show that firms being audited by one of the Big Four are more likely to have implemented ERM compared to those who are not audited by one of the Big Four.

The findings on Asset opacity, Dividend, Leverage, and Growth opp. were all positive but not statistically significant, indicating that these variables may not be crucial determinants of firm value in the oil and gas sector within our sample. Moreover, the estimated coefficient of Asset opacity is 0.588, which coincides with Gatzert & Martin and Lechner & Gatzert. This implies that there is not a solid empirical basis to assert a relationship between asset opacity and Tobin's Q for the upstream oil and gas sector firms in our sample. The effect of financial Leverage on firm value has been subject to ambiguous results according to prior research (Gatzert & Martin, 2015; Hoyt & Liebenberg, 2011). Our model estimated a statistically insignificant Leverage coefficient of only 0.002, indicating a minimal insignificant economic effect. Table 2 shows a slight increase in Leverage for firms with ERM (1.35) compared to those without ERM (1.12). Since ERM is significantly related to higher Tobin's Q in our study, it could be that ERM implementation helps firms manage the risks associated with

higher leverage (Kinyar, 2020; Pagach & Warr, 2011), thus reducing the potential negative impact on firm value. The lack of a significant relationship between Dividend and firm value might be due to the specific characteristics of the oil and gas sector, in which companies often need to retain earnings for future investments in exploration and development activities. Therefore, contrary to other industries, the payment of dividends might not be seen as a strong signal of firm value. Looking at Table 2, we can see that 73% of firms with ERM pay dividends, whereas only 38,2% of the firms without ERM pay dividends. This might suggest, as previously explained, that ERM implementation can allow more predictable cash flows and increased confidence in the ability to maintain dividend payments.

In further consideration of Table 2, the average level of Growth opp. for firms without ERM is slightly higher (0.7240) than for firms with ERM (0.4642). The t-statistics for the difference in means is 3.0079, indicating that the difference is statistically significant. This may suggest that companies implementing ERM are more conservative and prefer to limit their exposure to high-risk growth opportunities (P. Kapstad, personal communication, June 1, 2023). However, given the insignificant result in our regression model, we cannot definitively conclude that Growth opp. have an impact on Tobin's Q. While Table 2 suggests a relationship between ERM and growth opportunities, this relationship does not translate into a significant effect on Tobin's Q according to our model.

In sum, as displayed in Table 5, we choose to reject H1, H4 and H10 and accept H6, H7 and H9. Concerning H2, H3, H5 and H8, none of the corresponding coefficients are significant which suggests that there is not enough evidence to neither reject, nor accept them. Both H2 on asset opacity and H3 on financial leverage has been included to a large extent in previous studies, but the results are ambiguous. While H5 on dividend payments is positively related to firm value in our model and has been consistently found to influence firm performance-related dependent variables in prior literature, the corresponding coefficient is far from statistically significant, suggesting that the result could be random.

Hypothesis	Description	Findings	Significance	Results
H1	Firm size positively affects Tobin's O	Negative (-)	0.004	Reject H1
H2	Asset opacity negatively affects Tobin's O	Positive (+)	0.110	Ambiguous
H3	Increased financial leverage increases Tobin's	Positive (+)	0.663	Ambiguous
H4	Increased ROA increases Tobin's	Negative (-)	0.079	Reject H4
Н5	Dividend payment increases Tobin's	Positive (+)	0.222	Ambiguous
H6	≺ Increased liquidity increases Tobin's	Positive (+)	0.007	Accept H6
H7	X International diversification increases Tobin's	Positive (+)	0.001	Accept H7
H8	Growth opportunities reduce Tobin's O	Positive (+)	0.778	Ambiguous
Н9	Sales growth increases Tobin's O	Positive (+)	0.000	Accept H9
H10	Being audited by one of the Big Four auditors increases Tobin's O	Negative (-)	0.089	Reject H10

Table 5: Hypotheses results

10.5 Conclusion

This study aimed to investigate the effect of Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) on firm value in the oil and gas upstream sector. Utilizing a panel data fixed effects model spanning the years 2010 to 2020 on 113 companies in North America and Europe, we processed 957 firm-year observations to examine the relationship. Our empirical findings indicate that the implementation of ERM is positively associated with firm value. Specifically, the regression results show a positive and statistically significant coefficient on the ERM variable, implying that the change effect on firm value of implementing ERM is positive. Beyond the primary ERM variable, several control variables also revealed interesting findings. Firm size exhibited a statistically negative influence on firm value. Conversely,

increased liquidity, international diversification, and sales growth presented a statistically significant positive influence. These findings contribute to the literature on ERM and firm value by providing empirical evidence from decadelong panel data. They provide supportive evidence that ERM implementation can be beneficial to firms in the North American and European oil and gas sectors, offering valuable insights for firms contemplating such risk management practices.

However, while our study provides meaningful insights, it has various drawbacks. The following paragraphs cover certain limitations the reader should be aware of. First, the reader should be aware that there is no possibility of claiming causality based on this study. Our research design, while robust, is essentially correlational, meaning that it is structured to find relationships between variables, but not to determine the direction of cause and effect definitively. While we found that ERM implementation and firm value are related in our sample, we cannot decisively conclude that implementing ERM directly leads to higher firm value. It could be the case that firms with a higher value are simply likely to adopt ERM, or an unobserved third variable may influence both. In other words, correlation does not imply causation.

Second, and related to the issue of causality, endogeneity refers to a situation where an explanatory variable is correlated with the error term. In our context, endogeneity could arise if firms that are naturally more likely to have higher value – for instance, larger or more complex – are also more likely to implement ERM. In other words, there is no reason to believe that firms randomly adopt ERM. Such a scenario could lead us to mistakenly attribute the higher value to the implementation of ERM, while in fact, it is these other inherent characteristics that are driving value.

Third, this study may not be free of measurement errors. Our study manually measures ERM using annual reports as the source of information, which could introduce errors or inconsistencies classifying firms as having or not having ERM. ERM in reality, is not a binary 'yes or no' entity (P. Kapstad, personal communication, June 1, 2023), and our operationalization of it could oversimplify the reality. Additionally, displacement of risk management practices in annual reports is not mandatory, suggesting that our data collection method may not fully illustrate how risk management is conducted in a given company.

Furthermore, the data for European companies were manually collected, potentially leading to human errors in the dataset and thereby skewing our measurements and, consequently the findings. It is also worth mentioning some limitations that could arise from our selected timeframe of 2010 to 2020. This period contains market conditions and global events that may not be representative of other time periods. For example, the economic recovery following the 2008 financial crisis, the Eurozone crisis, Brexit, or the Covid-19 pandemic.

Fourth, as briefly described in section 8, our study does not include potentially essential variables such as governance variables and indicators of management of quality, primarily due to the challenges in accurately obtaining this information from annual reports. This omission could bias our results if these excluded variables are indeed significant predictors of firm value or ERM implementation. Governance variables, for instance, can influence both risk management practices and firm value, while management quality, even though not typically disclosed in annual reports, could significantly affect a firm's performance and, thus, its value.

In conclusion, while our study provides valuable insights into the relationship between ERM and firm value, it is subject to certain limitations, as outlined above. However, these limitations offer opportunities for further research to build on our work and continue advancing our understanding of this area.

Indeed, future research avenues present themselves as we consider the scope of our study. A notable area of focus could be the examination of different methodologies to assess ERM, particularly in the same sector as this study. A more comprehensive methodology, such as questionnaires, could complement the information gathered from annual reports, allowing for a more complete and nuanced understanding of ERM within individual companies. In addition, these potential questionnaires could be structured such that the researcher would obtain a deeper knowledge of contextual factors such as industry characteristics and regulatory aspects, enabling him/her to tailor the study. Finally, the research could also beneficially explore the impact of ERM on firm value in various sectors outside the oil and gas sector. Every industry carries unique characteristics and risk profiles, so ERM's effectiveness may vary across sectors. Additionally, on request, we are inclined to share our findings with interested parties.

References

Adam, M., Soliman, Alaa. M., & Mahtab, N. (2023). Measuring enterprise risk management implementation: A multifaceted approach for the banking sector. *The Quarterly Review of Economics and Finance*, 87, 244–256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.qref.2021.01.002

Ahn, S. C., & Low, S. (1996). A reformulation of the Hausman test for regression models with pooled cross-section-time-series data. *Journal of Econometrics*, *71*(1–2), 309–319. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-4076(94)01707-7

Alawattegama, K. (2017). The Impact of Enterprise Risk Management on Firm Performance: Evidence from Sri Lankan Banking and Finance Industry. *International Journal of Business and Management*, *13*(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.5539/ijbm.v13n1p225

Aldoseri, M. (2022). Enterprise Risk Management and Firms' Value Nexus: A Case of Saudi Emerging Market. *Applied Mathematics & Information Sciences*, *16*(3), 457–465. https://doi.org/10.18576/amis/160307

Altman, N. (2004). *Applying COSO's Enterprise Risk Management— Integrated Framework.*

Annamalah, S., Raman, M., Marthandan, G., & Logeiswaran, A. (2018). Implementation of Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) Framework in Enhancing Business Performances in Oil and Gas Sector. *Economies*, *6*, 4. https://doi.org/10.3390/economies6010004

Anton, S. G., & Nucu, A. E. A. (2020). Enterprise Risk Management: A Literature Review and Agenda for Future Research. *Journal of Risk and Financial Management*, *13*(11), Article 11. https://doi.org/10.3390/jrfm13110281

Aven, T. (2016). Risk assessment and risk management: Review of recent advances on their foundation. *European Journal of Operational Research*, *253*(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejor.2015.12.023

Baltagi, B. H., & Song, S. H. (2006). Unbalanced panel data: A survey. *Statistical Papers*, *47*(4), 493–523. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00362-006-0304-0

Bashatweh, A. D., & Ahmed, E. Y. (2021). The Effect of Voluntary Risk Disclosure on Assets Quality, Capital Adequacy, and Sensitivity to Market Risk – An Empirical Study on Commercial Banks in Jordan. In B. Alareeni, A. Hamdan, & I. Elgedawy (Eds.), *The Importance of New Technologies and Entrepreneurship in Business Development: In The Context of Economic Diversity in Developing Countries* (pp. 1328–1340). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-69221-6 99

Baxter, R., Bedard, J. C., Hoitash, R., & Yezegel, A. (2013). Enterprise Risk Management Program Quality: Determinants, Value Relevance, and the Financial Crisis. *Contemporary Accounting Research*, *30*(4), 1264– 1295. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1911-3846.2012.01194.x

Beasley, M., Pagach, D., & Warr, R. (2008). Information Conveyed in Hiring Announcements of Senior Executives Overseeing Enterprise-Wide Risk Management Processes. *Journal of Accounting, Auditing & Finance, 23*(3), 311–332. https://doi.org/10.1177/0148558X0802300303

Beasley, M. S., Clune, R., & Hermanson, D. R. (2005). Enterprise risk management: An empirical analysis of factors associated with the extent of implementation. *Journal of Accounting and Public Policy*, *24*(6), 521–531. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaccpubpol.2005.10.001

Beasley, M. S., Viscelli, T. R., & Hermanson, D. R. (2016). Research Insights About Risk Governance: Implications From a Review of ERM Research. *SAGE Open*, *6*(4), 2158244016680230. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244016680230 Bertinetti, G. S., Cavezzali, E., & Gardenal, G. (2013). *The Effect of the Enterprise Risk Management Implementation on the Firm Value of European Companies* (SSRN Scholarly Paper No. 2326195). https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2326195

Bhargava, A., Franzini, L., & Narendranathan, W. (1982). Serial Correlation and the Fixed Effects Model. *The Review of Economic Studies*, 49(4), 533–549. https://doi.org/10.2307/2297285

Borenstein, M., Hedges, L. V., Higgins, J. P. T., & Rothstein, H. R. (2010). A basic introduction to fixed-effect and random-effects models for metaanalysis. *Research Synthesis Methods*, *1*(2), 97–111. https://doi.org/10.1002/jrsm.12

Brownstein, A., Neff, D., Miller, M., Lipton, M., Niles, S., & Rosenblum, S. (2018, March 20). Risk Management and the Board of Directors. *The Harvard Law School Forum on Corporate Governance*. https://corpgov.law.harvard.edu/2018/03/20/risk-management-and-theboard-of-directors-5/

Collischon, M., & Eberl, A. (2020). Let's Talk About Fixed Effects: Let's Talk About All the Good Things and the Bad Things. *KZfSS Kölner Zeitschrift Für Soziologie Und Sozialpsychologie*, 72(2), 289–299. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11577-020-00699-8

Corporate Finance Institute. (2023, 14). *Enterprise Value vs Equity Value*. Corporate Finance Institute.

https://corporatefinanceinstitute.com/resources/valuation/enterprise-valuevs-equity-value/

COSO. (2017). Enterprise Risk Management—Integrating with Strategy and Performance. COSO. https://www.coso.org/Shared%20Documents/2017-COSO-ERM-Integrating-with-Strategy-and-Performance-Executive-Summary.pdf D'Arcy, S. P., & Brogan, J. (2001). *Enterprise Risk Management*. Journal of Risk Management of Korea Volume 12, Number 1. https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/document?repid=rep1&type=pdf&doi=c8e9297 7bafbecb2717541ad874841b709fbb836

DeLoach, J. (2010, February 7). Risk Oversight: A Board Imperative. *The Harvard Law School Forum on Corporate Governance*. https://corpgov.law.harvard.edu/2010/02/07/risk-oversight-a-boardimperative/

Deloitte US. (2013). *ERM for the Energy Industry* | *Deloitte US* | *Strategic Risk Services*. Deloitte United States. https://www2.deloitte.com/us/en/pages/advisory/articles/enterprise-risk-management-for-the-energy-industry.html

Dionne, G. (2013). Risk Management: History, Definition, and Critique. *Risk Management and Insurance Review*, *16*(2), 147–166. https://doi.org/10.1111/rmir.12016

Eckles, D., Hoyt, R. E., & Miller, S. (2011). *The Impact of Enterprise Risk Management on the Marginal Cost of Reducing Risk:*

Equinor. (2022). *Annual Report 2021*. Equinor. https://cdn.equinor.com/files/h61q9gi9/global/83ce4c64e602e203100e1ce2 c5de9b2d42ff8192.pdf?equinor-2021-annual-report-and-form-20-f.pdf

Equinor. (2020, October 9). *Publication of report from the review into Equinor's US business—Equinor.com*.

https://www.equinor.com/news/archive/20201009-report-usa-business

Farrell, M., & Gallagher, R. (2015). The Valuation Implications of Enterprise Risk Management Maturity. *The Journal of Risk and Insurance*, *82*(3), 625–657.

Federation of European Risk Management Association - FERMA. (2022, June 29). The European Risk Manager Report 2020: Key findings.

Federation of European Risk Management Associations – FERMA. https://www.ferma.eu/publication/the-european-risk-manager-report-2020-key-findings/

Florio, C., & Leoni, G. (2017). Enterprise risk management and firm performance: The Italian case. *The British Accounting Review*, *49*(1), 56–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bar.2016.08.003

Frigo, M. L., & Anderson, R. J. (2011). Strategic risk management: A foundation for improving enterprise risk management and governance. *Journal of Corporate Accounting & Finance*, 22(3), 81–88.
https://doi.org/10.1002/jcaf.20677

Gatzert, N., & Martin, M. (2015). Determinants and Value of Enterprise Risk Management: Empirical Evidence From the Literature: Empirical Evidence From the Literature. *Risk Management and Insurance Review*, *18*(1), 29–53. https://doi.org/10.1111/rmir.12028

Gillan, S. L. (2006). Recent Developments in Corporate Governance: An Overview. *Journal of Corporate Finance*, *12*(3), 381–402. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcorpfin.2005.11.002

Gjerdrum, D., & Peter, M. (2011). *The New International Standard on the Practice of Risk Management – A Comparison of ISO 31000:2009 and the COSO ERM Framework.*

Gordon, L. A., Loeb, M. P., & Tseng, C.-Y. (2009). Enterprise risk management and firm performance: A contingency perspective. *Journal of Accounting and Public Policy*, *28*(4), 301–327. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaccpubpol.2009.06.006

Griliches, Z., & Hausman, J. A. (1986). Errors in variables in panel data. *Journal of Econometrics*, *31*(1), 93–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-4076(86)90058-8 Hopkin, P. (2010). Fundamentals of risk management: Understanding, evaluating, and implementing effective risk management. Kogan Page.

Hoyt, R. E., & Liebenberg, A. P. (2003). The Determinants of Enterprise Risk Management: Evidence From the Appointment of Chief Risk Officers. *Risk Management and Insurance Review*, 6(1), 37–52. https://doi.org/10.1111/1098-1616.00019

Hoyt, R. E., & Liebenberg, A. P. (2011). The Value of Enterprise Risk Management. *Journal of Risk and Insurance*, 78(4), 795–822. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1539-6975.2011.01413.x

Hsiao, C. (2007). Panel data analysis—Advantages and challenges. *TEST*, *16*(1), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11749-007-0046-x

ISO Technical Committee. (2022, February). *ISO 37000 Governance of organizations—Guidance*. https://committee.iso.org/ISO 37000 Governance

Kapetanios, G., Pesaran, M. H., & Yamagata, T. (2011). Panels with nonstationary multifactor error structures. *Journal of Econometrics*, *160*(2), 326–348. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jeconom.2010.10.001

Kapstad, P. (2023, June 1). *Petter Kapstad—Equinor—Thesis Consultation* [Personal communication].

Kendrick, M. (1999). Review of Internal Control: Guidance for Directors on the Combined Code (The Turnbull Report) [Review of *Review of Internal Control: Guidance for Directors on the Combined Code (The Turnbull Report)*, by N. Turnbull]. *Risk Management*, 2(4), 65–69.

Kinyar, A. (2020). The Effect of the Adoption of Enterprise Risk Management on Firm Value: Evidence from North American Energy and Natural Resources Sector. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.31834.00962 Kraha, A., Turner, H., Nimon, K., Zientek, L., & Henson, R. (2012). Tools to Support Interpreting Multiple Regression in the Face of Multicollinearity. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *3*.
https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg.2012.00044

Lechner, P., & Gatzert, N. (2018). Determinants and value of enterprise risk management: Empirical evidence from Germany. *The European Journal of Finance*, *24*(10), 867–887. https://doi.org/10.1080/1351847X.2017.1347100

Leech, T. J. (2003). *A White Paper Proposing Practical, Cost Effective Compliance Strategies*. U.S Securities and Exchange Commission. https://www.sec.gov/rules/proposed/s74002/card941503.pdf

Lin, Y., Wen, M.-M., & Yu, J. (2011). Enterprise Risk Management: Strategic Antecedents, Risk Integration and Performance. *North American Actuarial Journal*, *16*. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1629341

McShane, M. (2018). Enterprise risk management: History and a design science proposal. *The Journal of Risk Finance*, *19*(2), 137–153. https://doi.org/10.1108/JRF-03-2017-0048

McShane, M., Bromiley, P., Nair, A., & Rustambekov, E. (2015). Enterprise Risk Management: Review, Critique, and Research Directions. *Long Range Planning*, *48*(4), 265–276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lrp.2014.07.005

McShane, M. K., Nair, A., & Rustambekov, E. (2011). Does Enterprise Risk Management Increase Firm Value? *Journal of Accounting, Auditing & Finance*, *26*(4), 641–658. https://doi.org/10.1177/0148558X11409160

Miller, K. D. (1992). A Framework for Integrated Risk Management in International Business. *Journal of International Business Studies*, *23*(2), 311–331.

Moon, H. R., & Perron, B. (2006). Seemingly Unrelated Regressions.

Mummolo, J., & Peterson, E. (2018). Improving the Interpretation of Fixed Effects Regression Results. *Political Science Research and Methods*, *6*(4), 829–835. https://doi.org/10.1017/psrm.2017.44

Nocco, B. W., & Stulz, R. M. (2006). Enterprise Risk Management: Theory and Practice. *Journal of Applied Corporate Finance*, *34*(1), 81–94. https://doi.org/10.1111/jacf.12490

OECD. (2014). *Risk Management and Corporate Governance*. OECD. https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264208636-en

OECD. (2015). *G20/OECD Principles of Corporate Governance 2015*. OECD Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264236882-en

Olvera Astivia, O. L., & Zumbo, B. D. (2019). *Heteroskedasticity in Multiple Regression Analysis: What it is, How to Detect it and How to Solve it with Applications in R and SPSS.* https://doi.org/10.7275/Q5XR-FR95

Pagach, D., & Warr, R. (2011). The Characteristics of Firms That Hire Chief Risk Officers. *Journal of Risk and Insurance*, 78(1), 185–211. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1539-6975.2010.01378.x

Roberts, D. M., & Bilderback, E. W. (1980). Reliability and Validity of a Statistics Attitude Survey. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 40(1), 235–238. https://doi.org/10.1177/001316448004000138

Schandl, A., & Foster, P. (2019). COSO INTERNAL CONTROL – INTEGRATED FRAMEWORK: An Implementation Guide for the Healthcare Provider Industry.

https://www.coso.org/Shared%20Documents/CROWE-COSO-Internal-Control-Integrated-

Framework.pdf?fbclid=IwAR130n1UJLk72VRIpM2Jl4UFP_ILVdLupYse cFkKQlA0NH2nB9HGnYl2Gvs Securities and Exchange Commission. (2009). *Proxy Disclosure Enhancements*. U.S Securities and Exchange Commission. https://www.sec.gov/rules/final/2009/33-9089.pdf

Shrestha, N. (2020). Detecting Multicollinearity in Regression Analysis. *American Journal of Applied Mathematics and Statistics*, *8*, 39–42. https://doi.org/10.12691/ajams-8-2-1

Sobel, P. J., & Reding, K. F. (2004). Aligning Corporate Governance with Enterprise Risk Management. *Management Accounting Quarterly*, 5(2), 29.

SoxOnline. (2004). COSO Framework: 2004 Version. *Sox-Online*. http://www.sox-online.com/coso-cobit-center/coso-framework-2004-version/

Stapledon, G. (1998). The Hampel Report on Corporate Governance.

Stock, J. H., & Watson, M. W. (2020). *Introduction to econometrics* (Fourth edition.; Global edition.). Pearson.

The Committee on the Financial Aspects of & Corporate Governance and Gee and Co. Ltd. (1992). *Report of the Committee on the Financial Aspects of Corporate Governance. Hauptw.,repr* (Reprinted). Gee.

The Harvard Law School. (2016, September 8). Principles of Corporate Governance. *The Harvard Law School Forum on Corporate Governance*. https://corpgov.law.harvard.edu/2016/09/08/principles-of-corporategovernance/

The Institute of Internal Auditors. (2013). *The Three Lines of Defense in Effective Risk Management and Contrl*. The Institue of Internal Auditors. https://theiia.fi/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/pp-the-three-lines-of-defense-in-effective-risk-management-and-control.pdf

The Institute of Internal Auditors. (2021). OnRisk 2022: A Guide to Understanding, Aligning, and Optimizing Risk.

https://epi.iiauat.org/en/content/research/onrisk/2021/onrisk-2022-a-guide-to-understanding-aligning-and-optimizing-risk/

The Institute of Internal Auditors. (2023). *Risk management* | *Technical guidance* | *IIA*. https://www.iia.org.uk/resources/risk-management/?fbclid=IwAR3IchH-EwtmVU-4ODVEVovlWnOSt-UiRWcQLRUD43Iw1IdNKJDWEp651so

Verbrugge, J., Niehaus, G., Coleman, W., Lawder, K., Smith, C., Briscoe, C., Ramamurtie, S., & Chew, D. (2020). UNIVERSITY OF GEORGIA ROUNDTABLE ON: Enterprise-Wide Risk Management. *Journal of Applied Corporate Finance*, *32*(1), 14–35. https://doi.org/10.1111/jacf.12386

Wilcox, R. (2017). Chapter 2—A Foundation for Robust Methods. In R.
Wilcox (Ed.), *Introduction to Robust Estimation and Hypothesis Testing* (*Fourth Edition*) (pp. 25–43). Academic Press.
https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-804733-0.00002-0

Wilms, R., Mäthner, E., Winnen, L., & Lanwehr, R. (2021). Omitted variable bias: A threat to estimating causal relationships. *Methods in Psychology*, *5*, 100075. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.metip.2021.100075

Wursten, J. (2018). Testing for Serial Correlation in Fixed-effects Panel Models. *The Stata Journal*, *18*(1), 76–100. https://doi.org/10.1177/1536867X1801800106

Appendix

Appendix A: Guiding questions for the conversation with P. Kapstad 01.06.2023

How does Equinor utilize ERM to gain a competitive advantage?

What are the key benefits of portfolio risk management?

Elaborate on the top-down process at Equinor. To what extent does the board involve in risk oversight?

How is ERM rooted in Equinor's strategies?

How does the "green transition" affect Equinor?

Elaborate on how ERM is a vital part of Equinor's corporate and business management.

What does the "ERM-landscape" look like in 5-10-15-20 years?

What firm characteristics is the most prevalent for ERM implementation?

Appendix B: List of Companies

Company name

Company name

Company name

Abraxas Petroleum Corp Altex Industries Inc APA Corp Aker BP Archer Atlantic Petroleum Awilco Drilling Barnwell Industries Basic Energy Services Inc Battalion Oil Corp BP Plc Block Energy Plc Borr Drilling Callon Petroleum CO/DE Camber Energy Inc Cheniere Energy Inc Chesapeake Energy Corp Chord Energy Corp Cimarex Energy CO ConocoPhillips Contango Oil & Gas CO Core Laboratories Inc Coterra Energy Inc Capricorn Energy Inc Dawson Geophysical CO Deep Well Oil & Gas Denbury Inc Devon Energy Corp Diamond Offshore Drilling Inc DNO Diversified Energy Enservo Corp EOG Resources Inc **Evolution Petroleum Corp** Energean Plc Eni **Enquest Plc** Equinor Gran Tierra Energy Inc

Gulfport Energy Corp Gail Gas Ltd Halliburton CO Helix Energy Solutions Group Helmerich & Payne Hess Corp Highpoint Resources Corp Houston Armen Energy Corp Harbour Energy Hurricane Energy Plc International Petroleum Corp Key Energy Services Inc Kosmos Energy Marathon Oil Corp Mexco Energy Corp Minerals Technologies Inc Murphy Oil Corp Maha Energy Nabors Industries Ltd Noble Energy Inc Northern Oil & Gas Inc Nuverra Environmental Solutn Noble Corp Plc Northern Drilling Occidental Petroleum Corp Oceaneering International OGDCL Ltd OKEA OMV Petrom Ovintiv Inc Odfjell Group Parker Drilling CO Patterson-Uti Energy Inc PDC Energy Inc PHX Minerals Inc Pioneer Energy Services Corp Pioneer Natural Resources CO

PJSC Tatneft Primeenergy Resources Corp Panoro Petro Matad Petrolia Petronor E&P ASA Prosafe **OEP** Resources Inc Questerre Energy Corp Range Resources Corp Ranger Oil Corporation Reserve Petroleum CO Ring Energy Inc Royale Energy Inc RPC Inc Romgaz Schlumberger Ltd Silverbow Resources Inc SM Energy CO Superior Energy Services Inc Seadrill Ltd Serica Energy Shelf Drilling Shell Plc Tengasco Inc Tetra Technologies Inc/DE Torchlight Energy Resources Transatlantic Petroleum Ltd Transglobe Energy Corp Transocean Ltd Tethys Oil TotalEnergies Tullow Oil Plc Ultra Petroleum Corp Vaalco Energy Inc Valaris Ltd Vital Engy Inc W&T Offshore Inc Whiting Petroleum Corp

Appendix C: Examples of ERM

1: Capricorn Energy

Annual report 2020, p. 31:

"As in previous years, Capricorn's risk management process is based on a *holistic approach* and provides a systematic process for the identification and management of key risks and opportunities that may impact the delivery of the Group's strategic objectives. *KPIs* are set annually and determining the level of risk the Group is willing to accept in the pursuit of these objectives is a fundamental component of Capricorn's risk management framework."

2: Tullow Oil

Annual report 2020, p. 31:

"Our risk management framework takes a '*top down, bottom up*' *approach to risk*, ensuring that ownership and responsibility for identification, assessment and management of key risks and opportunities is embedded throughout the business. The Board sets the context for risk management through defining the strategic direction and risk appetite for the organization."

3: Eni

Annual report 2020, p. 26:

"The *Integrated Risk Management Model* is characterized by a structured approach, based on international best practices and considering the guidelines of

the Internal Control and Risk Management System, that is structured on three control levels. Risk governance attributes a central role to the Board of Directors, which defines the nature and level of risk in line with strategic targets, including in evaluation process all those risks that could be consistent for the sustainability of the business in the medium-long term".

4: Noble Corp Plc

Proxy Statement 2020, p. 17:

"We have not concentrated responsibility for all risk management in a single risk management officer within our executive management, but rather we rely on a management steering committee to administer an *enterprise risk management* (*"ERM"*) system that is designed to ensure that the most significant risks to the Company, on a *consolidated basis*, are being identified, managed and monitored appropriately, and that due care is exercised in considering such risks in the management of the Company".